

University of Central Florida
STARS

Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019

2018

# The Efficacy of a 6-week Evidence-based Support Group for Caregivers of Dementia in a Primary Care Setting

Mona Shah

Part of the Clinical Psychology Commons Find similar works at: https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd University of Central Florida Libraries http://library.ucf.edu

This Doctoral Dissertation (Open Access) is brought to you for free and open access by STARS. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019 by an authorized administrator of STARS. For more information, please contact STARS@ucf.edu.

# **STARS Citation**

Shah, Mona, "The Efficacy of a 6-week Evidence-based Support Group for Caregivers of Dementia in a Primary Care Setting" (2018). *Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 2004-2019.* 6175. https://stars.library.ucf.edu/etd/6175



# THE EFFICACY OF A 6-WEEK EVIDENCE-BASED SUPPORT GROUP FOR CAREGIVERS OF DEMENTIA IN A PRIMARY CARE SETTING

by

# MONA SHAH M.S. University of Central Florida, 2015 M.A. California State University Fullerton, 2011

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Department of Psychology in the College of Sciences at the University of Central Florida Orlando, Florida

Fall Term 2018

Major Professor: Daniel Paulson

© 2018 Mona Shah

### ABSTRACT

More than 16 million Americans provide unpaid care for those with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. Extant literature has well documented the increased risk for physical, emotional, social and financial burden associated with caregiving. While intensive support groups may be well-suited to caregiver needs, they are often difficult to implement given financial, personnel and resource constraints. Thus, the purpose of this study is to examine the efficacy of a theoretically-based, 6-week caregiver support group in a community primary care setting. The group focuses on self-care, behavior management techniques and interdisciplinary caregiver resources. A total of 22 participants completed the active caregiver support group and they were compared to 19 control participants who participated in community caregiver support groups. Participants on average were in their mid-60s, mostly female and Caucasian, and identified as either the care recipient's child or spouse. All participants completed self-report measures related to demographic information, caregiver preparedness (Caregiver Preparedness Scale), caregiver strain (Caregiver Strain Index), caregiver depressive symptoms (CESD-10), and care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms (NPI-Q), at baseline and at 6-weeks. Participants in the active caregiver support group also completed a satisfaction survey. Results from two-way mixed ANCOVA analyses revealed a time by group interaction effect for caregiver preparedness, such that caregivers in the active group demonstrated a significant increase in mean caregiver preparedness scores while scores remained invariant for the control group. No significant main effects nor group by time interaction effects were found for caregiver strain, caregiver depressive symptoms and caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms. Participants in the active caregiver support group rated being largely satisfied with the group.

Results suggest that this 6-week caregiver support group may be a promising caregiver intervention that can be readily implemented and accessible in primary care clinics. Further research with larger sample sizes is recommended.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work would not have been possible without the support of my collaborators, peers and mentors. First, I would like to sincerely thank the Alzheimer's and Dementia Resource Center for sharing their time and invaluable resources with the dementia caregivers in our support groups. I also would like to thank my dissertation committee for their valued time and expert advice. I am indebted to my OLDeR labmates for their endless support throughout this journey. In addition to the laughs and vent sessions, thank you for keeping me sane through the nights we worked feverishly to meet deadlines. To the Stouts, my Florida family, I look forward to sharing more memories as we move on from graduate school (finally!). I would like to acknowledge Dr. Cerrisa Blaney for fostering my professional development and mentoring me continually. Most importantly, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Daniel Paulson. I do not have enough writing space to express my gratitude for your teachings, guidance and mentorship. I admire your commitment and passion for science and academia, while maintaining your family values and Wednesday-night sails. I appreciate your constant encouragement and support of my professional and personal goals, even if it means asking me what's next before I complete the task at hand. I am lucky and proud to be your student.

I also owe my successes to my family, who have been pillars of strength throughout my endeavors. I cannot thank my loving siblings and nephews enough, whose phone calls and Google hangouts always brightened my days and lessened the distance felt being away from home. I would like to thank my parents whose constant love, support, and care packages carried me through the toughest of days. And finally to my now husband, thank you for being my

v

number one cheerleader, always celebrating my successes and continually reminding me of my strengths to conquer life's challenges.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES ix
LIST OF TABLES
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
Informal Caregiving
Caregiver Strain and Depression
Caregiver Preparedness
Filial Obligation
Caregiver Interventions
i. Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH) Program
ii. New York University (NYU) Caregiver Intervention
iii. Limitations of the REACH Program and NYU Caregiver Intervention
iv. Brief Interventions
Proposed Research
CHAPTER 2: METHODS
Participants
Method
Measures
Statistical Methods
CHAPTER 3: RESULTS
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION
APPENDIX A: FIGURES
APPENDIX B: TABLES

APPENDIX C: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP MANUAL	0
APPENDIX D: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP INTAKE PACKET 6	6
APPENDIX E: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP EXIT PACKET	8
APPENDIX F: CONTROL GROUP INTAKE PACKET 8	8
APPENDIX G: CONTROL GROUP EXIT PACKET 10	0
APPENDIX H: TREATMENT FIDELITY CODING SHEET 10	9
APPENDIX I: IRB APPROVAL OF HUMAN RESEARCH 11	1
REFERENCES 11	4

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Active Group Sample Selection	45
Figure 2: Control Group Sample Selection	46
Figure 3: Satisfaction Survey Results for Active Group Participants	47

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Baseline comparisons between participants who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 41) and participants who met inclusionary criteria and did not complete the study Table 2: Baseline comparisons between active group participants who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and active group participants who met inclusionary criteria but Table 3: Baseline comparisons between particiants in the active group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and participants in the control group who met Table 4: Baseline comparisons on outcome measures between particiants in the active group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and participants in the control group Table 5: Results from the Four Separate Two-way Mixed ANCOVA Analyses. The within factor was time (baseline and 6-weeks), between factor was group (active or control) and covariates were baseline caregiver income (CG Income), baseline caregiver residing with spouse/long-term partner (CG Spouse) and baseline mean caregiver preparedness score (CP Mean Score Baseline). The four outcome measures were Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score, CESD-10 Total Score (caregiver depressive symptoms), Caregiver Strain Index Total Score, and NPI-Q Distress Total Table 6: Linear Regression Model Results – Variance of outcome variables accounted for by 

Table 7: Linear Regression Model Results – Model significance.	. 58
Table 8: Linear Regression Results – Model 1 with main effects of care recipient symptom tot	al
(CR Symptom Total) and caregiver obligation (CG Obligation) and Model 2 with the addition	ı of
interaction term between care recipient symptom total and caregiver obligation (Interaction	
CRSymp*CGObl).	. 59

## **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

The provision of care for older adults with dementia, a life-limiting condition, is a growing public health concern. Caregiving is often a time-consuming, resource-intensive, physically taxing and an emotionally exhausting activity for family members of older adults with dementia. The economic value of informal caregiving has been estimated at 232.1 billion dollars in 2017 (Alzheimer's Association, 2018), and this figure largely reflects cost offset associated with use of skilled long-term residential care, including nursing homes. Approximately 5.7 million Americans were estimated to have Alzheimer's disease in 2018, with approximately 96 percent of them being over the age of 65 (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; L. E. Hebert, Weuve, Scherr, & Evans, 2013). More specifically, 16 percent of those with Alzheimer's disease are between the ages of 65-74 years, 44 percent are between the ages of 75-84 years, and 37 percent are 85 years or older (numbers do not add to 100 due to rounding; Alzheimer's Association, 2018). With the demographic group of older adults projected to double by 2050 and comprise 20 percent of the U.S. population (Shrestha & Heisler, 2011), the number of Americans with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias is also expected to rise correspondingly, barring the development of a cure for the disease (L. E. Hebert et al., 2013; Plassman et al., 2007; Prince et al., 2013). Availability of beds in long-term care facilities is limited (Harrington, Preston, Grant, & Swan, 1992; Harris-Kohetin et al., 2016) and thus, availability of professional care options for those with memory disorders is largely dependent upon for-profit enterprises that are often unaffordable. Further, long-term facility placement is often not preferred by the caregiver nor the care recipient (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). Facilitation of informal dementia caregiving has been identified as a key strategy to provide care of our aging population (Alzheimer's

Association, 2018). While numerous psychotherapeutic interventions for caregivers have been developed (Brodaty, Green, & Koschera, 2003; Chien et al., 2011; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006; Schulz, 2000), few have been successfully translated to accessible settings such as primary care clinics.

Dementia is a progressive clinical syndrome caused by varying neurodegenerative diseases and presents with a cluster of cognitive symptoms, most notably memory impairment. As a result, persons with dementia begin to experience gradual cognitive decline and ultimately lose the capacity to live independently (Budson & Kowall, 2011). There are numerous types of dementia including frontotemporal dementia, dementia with Lewy Bodies and vascular dementia; Alzheimer's disease is the most prevalent type (Barker et al., 2002; Reitz, Brayne, & Mayeux, 2011), and thus the most researched.

Alzheimer's disease and other dementias are heterogeneous in their presentations and progressions among individuals. The most commonly cited symptom is the inability to remember and develop new memories, which often leads to confusion and the inability to complete tasks (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Lichtenberg, Murman, & Mellow, 2003; Sandilyan & Dening, 2015). Other cognitive symptoms include impaired executive functioning and problems with language (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Budson & Kowall, 2011; Lichtenberg et al., 2003; Sandilyan & Dening, 2015). Impaired executive functioning often leads to disorientation, disinhibition, inability to regulate emotions appropriately and compromised judgment. As a result of memory and executive impairment, persons with dementia gradually lose the ability to care for themselves (e.g., inability to adhere to medication and personal hygiene regimes, pay bills and maintain housecleaning). In an effort to prevent dangerous accidents including traffic accidents, falls, kitchen fires, financial fraud or other preventable loss from occurring, caregivers

of persons with dementia often take over responsibilities such as transportation and cooking. Dementia also impairs one's language by creating word-finding problems, object-naming difficulties and comprehension failures (Kemper & Lyons, 1994). Together, these symptoms lead to the inability to start and sustain conversations, feelings of frustration and social isolation.

People with dementia also experience a variety of behavioral and psychiatric symptoms that lead to functional decline (Cerejeira, Lagarto, & Mukaetova-Ladinska, 2012; Finkel, Costa e Silva., Cohen, Miller, & Sartorius, 1996; Kales, Gitlin, & Lyketsos, 2015; Pinidbunjerdkool, Saengwanitch, & Sithinamsuwan, 2014). These symptoms include delusions and hallucinations (visual hallucinations are a salient feature of Lewy body dementia; Burns & Iliffe, 2009), depression, agitation, mood lability, eating disturbances and wandering (Cerejeira et al., 2012; Finkel et al., 1996; Kales et al., 2015; Pinidbunjerdkool et al., 2014). Further, people with dementia often experience sundown syndrome, or sundowning. Sundowning is a term used to describe the worsening of psychiatric and behavioral symptoms during the late afternoon and evening hours (Khachiyants, Trinkle, Son, & Kim, 2011; Little, Satlin, Sunderland, & Volicer, 1995). The etiology of sundowning has not been identified, and while several theories have been proposed, more recent research suggests that it may be related to a disruption in circadian rhythms (Khachiyants et al., 2011; Volicer, Harper, Manning, Goldstein, & Satlin, 2001).

Cumulatively, these symptoms affect older adults' physical and mental health, and a variety of life domains including social and occupational functioning. These symptoms also make caregiving an arduous task (Donaldson, Tarrier, & Burns, 1997). Caregivers are heavily depended on as persons with dementia have difficulty communicating, display behavioral problems and mood lability, and become disabled in a multitude of ways. Dementia symptomatology progresses over time in both quantity and severity prior to death, leaving

caregivers to provide care for years. Research estimates a median survival time of 4.5 years after the onset of dementia (Xie, Brayne, Matthews, Medical Research Council Cognitive Function, & Ageing Study collaborators, 2008); however, the survival time varies significantly based on numerous factors include age of onset (younger age of onset associated with longer median survival times), dementia subtype, comorbidities and severity (Brodaty, Seeher, & Gibson, 2012; Xie et al., 2008). Thus, some with Alzheimer's disease may live as long as 20 years with the disease (Alzheimer's Association, 2018).

## Informal Caregiving

Approximately 75 percent of caregivers of dementia patients are family and friends – informal caregivers (Schulz & Martire, 2004). According to research, family and friends of older adults with dementia choose to provide care most often because: (1) they wish to keep the care recipient at home; (2) their physical proximity to the care recipient facilitates the provision of informal care; and (3) they feel a sense of obligation to personally see to the care of their loved one (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Brodaty, 2009). The majority of caregivers are spouses and adult children, and over two thirds of these caregivers are female (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Bouldin & Andersen, 2014; Brodaty et al., 2012; Friedman, Shih, Langa, & Hurd, 2015). Most caregivers (66%) live with their care recipient in the community (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). Over 40 percent of caregivers have some college education or beyond, and over 66 percent identify as non-Hispanic White (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Bouldin & Andersen, 2014). While some studies indicate that older African-American adults are approximately two times more likely and older Hispanic adults are 1.5 times more likely to have Alzheimer's and other dementias compared to older White adults, the majority of persons with Alzheimer's and/or other dementia living in the United States identify as non-Hispanic White (Alzheimer's

Association, 2018). In the 2014 Alzheimer's Association Women and Alzheimer's Poll, 25 percent of caregivers reported living with children under the age of 18 making them "sandwich generation caregivers" – caring for both children and aging parents (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). Many sandwich generation caregivers face increased, and often conflicting, caregiving demands and stressors; subsequently, many have reported engaging in less healthy behaviors, such little to no exercise and reduced quality of life (Chassin, Macy, Seo, Presson, & Sherman, 2010; Rubin & White-Means, 2009).

Caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's and other dementias spend more hours caregiving than caregivers of patients with other later-life disorders (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Ory, Hoffman III, Yee, Tennstedt, & Schulz, 1999). Specifically, caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease report spending an average of 27 more hours per month providing care than non-dementia caregivers (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). While a little over 33 percent of caregivers report spending 0-8 hours weekly providing care, approximately 28 percent report providing 40 or more hours of care weekly (Ory et al., 1999). Caregivers of dementia assist with a variety of tasks, including management of psychiatric and behavioral symptoms and hiring and supervising formal support services. Dementia caregivers also provide greater assistance in activities of daily living (bathing, toileting, dressing and feeding) and instrumental activities of daily living (medication management, financial management, transportation and meal preparation) than non-dementia caregivers (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Bouldin & Andersen, 2014; Ory et al., 1999; Schulz, 2000).

The financial burden associated with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias impacts care recipients, caregivers and our economy as a whole. Using the Health and Retirement Study, a nationally representative longitudinal study of older adults, Hurd and colleagues (2013)

estimated that each case of dementia costs between 41,000 and 56,000 dollars; institutionalized and home-based long-term care were the greatest cost contributors. They further estimated that the total cost of dementia nationwide in 2010 ranged from 157 to 215 billion dollars, of which Medicaid covered 11 billion dollars (Hurd et al., 2013). Newer reports suggest that the total cost of care for all patients with Alzheimer's and other dementias in 2018 is estimated to be \$277 billion, of which 67% will be covered by Medicare and Medicaid (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). Research estimates that the total direct costs of managing Alzheimer's disease is reduced by 21 percent if the patient is living at home (Jankowiak & Knopman, 2006); however, this often leads to an increase costs for caregivers. Approximately 57 percent of caregivers reported that they have to take time off work, leave early from work and/or arrive late to work due to caregiving responsibilities; 16 percent reported taking a leave of absence; 18 percent reported reducing work hours to part-time; and 9 percent reported leaving their job altogether (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). In a study examining male Veterans with probable dementia, researchers found that the largest costs to providing informal care was attributable to caregiving time and caregiver lost earnings (Moore, Zhu, & Clipp, 2001). Further, 11.4 billion dollars in healthcare costs in the United States in 2017 is estimated to result from the physical and emotional impact of dementia caregiving (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). The present literature collectively reveals that Alzheimer's and dementia management leads to substantial indirect costs, including caregiver lost earnings.

# Caregiver Strain and Depression

Copious findings suggest that dementia caregivers are at increased risk for burden, stress, depression and other health problems (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Brodaty, 2009; Burns & Iliffe, 2009; Cuijpers, 2005; Etters, Goodall, & Harrison, 2008; Schulz, 2000). Caregiver burden

has been defined as the subjective experience of physical, psychological, social and financial problems experienced due to caregiving (Chou, 2000; Hoffman & Mitchell, 1998). Dementia caregivers report experiencing high levels of burden and strain (Schulz, O'Brien, Bookwala, & Fleissner, 1995), and higher levels of emotional, physical and financial strain compared to nondementia caregivers (Ory et al., 1999; Schulz, 2000). Specifically, dementia caregivers report experiencing caregiving-related family conflict, decreased socialization and personal leisure time, employment complications and increased feelings of being overwhelmed (Ory et al., 1999). Strong correlates of caregiver burden include behavioral disturbances displayed by the care recipient and levels of dependence on the caregiver (Etters et al., 2008; Garre-Olmo et al., 2016; Papastavrou, Kalokerinou, Papacostas, Tsangari, & Sourtzi, 2007). Studies also suggest that caregiver burden predicts caregiver depression (Clyburn, Stones, Hadjistavropoulos, & Tuokko, 2000; D'Aoust, Brewster, & Rowe, 2015).

Approximately 59 percent of dementia caregivers rated the emotional stress of caregiving as high or very high, and approximately 30 to 40 percent suffer from depression (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). The prevalence and incident rates of depression among dementia caregivers is higher than rates found among comparable community dwelling adults (Cuijpers, 2005; Kiecolt-Glaser, Dura, Speicher, Trask, & Glaser, 1991). Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia, including depression, aggression and sleep disturbances, are common predictors of caregiver depression (Covinsky et al., 2003; Danhauer et al., 2004; Ornstein & Gaugler, 2012). In a cross-sectional study among Taiwanese dementia caregivers, a positive correlation was found between depression, measured using the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D), and care recipient's behavioral and psychological symptoms, measured using the Neuropsychiatric Inventory (Huang, Liao, & Wang, 2015). A recent meta-analysis revealed that

the odds of having depression were 1.53 times higher in female caregivers, 1.83 times higher in caregivers of male care recipients and 2.51 times higher in caregivers who have a spousal relationship with their care recipient (Sallim, Sayampanathan, Cuttilan, & Ho, 2015). Other identified correlates of caregiver depression include perceived patient suffering (Schulz et al., 2008), care recipient irritability (R. Mahoney, Regan, Katona, & Livingston, 2005), and age of dementia patient, dementia severity, caregiver income and caregiver ethnicity (Covinsky et al., 2003). Subsequently, caregiver depression and distress can increase caregivers' risk for cardiovascular disease (Mausbach, Patterson, Rabinowitz, Grant, & Schulz, 2007). In a longitudinal study of a sample of Japanese caregivers, Arai and colleagues (2001) found that caregivers who relinquished caregiving for disabled elderly at home reported greater depressive symptomatology than those who continued caregiving at home, suggesting depression as a predictor of transition to long-term care. Similar results were found in a study of over 400 spouse caregivers of community-dwelling patients such that greater depressive symptomatology was a significant predictor of higher nursing home placement rates (Mittelman, Haley, Clay, & Roth, 2006).

## **Caregiver Preparedness**

Caregiver preparedness is defined as how ready and able a person feels to assume the various duties of caregiving (Archbold, Stewart, Greenlick, & Harvath, 1990). Increased caregiver preparedness has been associated with decreased levels of caregiver strain and burden (Archbold et al., 1990; Scherbring, 2002). Among family caregivers of cancer patients, caregiver preparedness was more strongly associated with caregiver mood than caregiver strain (Schumacher et al., 2008). Among family caregivers in palliative care, increased preparedness was significantly associated with increased hope, increased reward and decreased anxiety;

however, preparedness was not associated with caregiver depression and health (Henriksson & Arestedt, 2013). A cross-sectional study on dementia caregivers in Taiwan found that greater caregiver preparedness correlated with better mental health and greater caregiving rewards (Shyu et al., 2010). Similarly, Wang and colleagues (2013) found that more preparedness in Taiwanese dementia caregivers correlated with less strain and protected against adverse mental health effects when caregiving demands were high.

# Filial Obligation

Filial obligation is the duty one feels to care for their aging parents (Rossi & Rossi, 1990), and more broadly can be applied to how family members are expected to care for one another. Filial obligation develops from early socialization to cultural standards that promote social responsibility for aging parents (Cicirelli, 1993) and typically peaks in mid-life (Gans & Silverstein, 2006). Past research, though limited, on filial obligation and ethnicity supports culture as one determinant of caregiving responsibility (Burr & Mutchler, 1999; Chappell & Funk, 2011; Scharlach et al., 2006). Specifically, ethnic minorities including Blacks and Hispanics report a greater sense of filial responsibility than non-Hispanic Whites (Burr & Mutchler, 1999; Connell & Gibson, 1997; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2005). Women also tend to report stronger feelings of filial obligation than men (Stein et al., 1998), which may relate to the fact that women historically have been assigned caregiving responsibilities. Filial obligation has been found to predict helping behaviors (Silverstein, Parrott, & Bengtson, 1995). While filial obligation is related to caregiver burden, the nature of the relationship remains unclear. In a study examining attachment and obligation in daughters caring for elderly mothers, daughters with stronger filial obligations felt a greater sense of burden (Cicirelli, 1993). In contrast, another

study revealed relatives who felt a stronger sense of filial obligation experienced an overall reduction in caregiver-related burden (Chou, LaMontagne, & Hepworth, 1999).

#### Caregiver Interventions

Numerous caregiver interventions and support groups are available for Alzheimer's and dementia caregivers (Mittelman, 2013). Gitlin and colleagues (2015) note that over 200 interventions were reviewed in 24 meta-analyses and systematic reviews conducted between 1966 and 2013. These interventions vary in number of participants, duration, structure, leadership type (community members versus trained health professionals) and setting (Hornillos & Crespo, 2011), and are typically comprised of one or more of the following components: social support, psychoeducation, skills training, and emotional support (Chu, 2011). Overall, interventions target improving caregivers' understanding of dementia and their ability to cope with their care recipient's dementia, resulting in improved quality of life for both the caregiver and care recipient (Alzheimer's Association, 2015). Improvement in quality of life and reduction in distress by facilitating better coping contributes to the delay in need for residential care (Liddle et al., 2012).

Given the numerous types of interventions, many reviews and meta-analyses have been published to help delineate which interventions and intervention components are effective. While there is an overwhelming consensus that caregiver support groups are beneficial, most reporting small to moderate effect sizes (Gitlin et al., 2015; Schulz et al., 2002), the degree and type of benefits received appear to vary among interventions (Acton & Kang, 2001; Alzheimer's Association, 2015; Brodaty et al., 2003; Chien et al., 2011; Cooke, McNally, Mulligan, Harrison, & Newman, 2001; Mittelman, 2013; Parker, Mills, & Abbey, 2008; Peacock & Forbes, 2003; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006; Pusey & Richards, 2001; Schulz et al., 2002; Sorensen, Pinquart, &

Duberstein, 2002). Meta-analytic reviews conclude that support groups reduce caregiver depression, with effect sizes ranging from small (Cohen's d = 0.24; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006) to medium (Cohen's d = 0.68; Brodaty et al., 2003). Reviews also demonstrate that support groups increase caregiver's knowledge about dementia, with moderate effect sizes (Cohen's d =0.46-0.51; Brodaty et al., 2003; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). The findings on support groups reducing caregiver burden, however, remains equivocal (Schulz et al., 2002). Some studies report that caregiver support groups provide a small but significant reduction in caregiver burden (Chien et al., 2011; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006), while others find no reduction in caregiver burden (Acton & Kang, 2001; Brodaty et al., 2003; Chu et al., 2011; Parker et al., 2008).

Both intervention and participant characteristics have been found to impact the effectiveness of the support group. General support groups that offer self-help and peer support or short educational programs, often found in community settings, are not as effective in improving caregiver outcomes (Brodaty et al., 2003; Parker et al., 2008). In contrast, psychoeducational and psychotherapeutic groups demonstrate a significantly higher effect in reducing caregiver depression and improving psychological well-being (Chien et al., 2011; Mittelman, 2013). Multi-component interventions have the broadest range of positive effects (Alzheimer's Association, 2015; Parker et al., 2008), including a small yet significant reduction in caregiver burden (Acton & Kang, 2001). Multi-component interventions also were the only type found to delay transition of care recipient to a long-term placement facility (Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). Interventions with social, behavioral and problem-solving components are more efficacious (Cooke et al., 2001; Pusey & Richards, 2001). Meta-analytic reviews have consistently reported a dose-effect whereby intervention length is positively associated with improvements in caregiver depression and subjective well-being, as it allows time for effective

implementation of skills and problem-solving (Brodaty et al., 2003; Chien et al., 2011; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006; Sorensen et al., 2002). In addition, group sizes between 6-10 have demonstrated greater caregiver benefits compared to larger group sizes (Chien et al., 2011). One possible reason for this is that caregivers in small groups have more opportunities to share as opposed to those in larger group sizes. Caregiver support groups that require active participation from group members, such as role-playing, yield better caregiver outcomes, including reduced depression and burden (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Parker et al., 2008; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). Findings also suggest that caregiver support groups with the same group leader who can provide as much information as needed and seek help from experts for each group demonstrate greater efficacy (Chien et al., 2011). In sum, findings suggest interventions that are comprehensive, intensive and individually-tailored are more likely to be effective (Schulz, 2000); however, these interventions also tend to require considerable money, resources and time.

Individual participant characteristics also correlate with intervention outcomes. Research demonstrates that female participants corresponded to better effects on depression and psychological well-being (Chien et al., 2011), however, this may be attributed to findings that female caregivers report experiencing greater depression (Mittelman, 2013). Care recipient's disease progression is positively associated with the caregiver intervention response (Chien et al., 2011). One proposed explanation for this result is that caregivers of patients with more progressive dementia are more motivated to attend group sessions, and thus procure greater benefits (Chien et al., 2011). Caregiver support groups have also been found to be of greater benefit for caregivers who are either dissatisfied with their role as a caregiver or are unemployed during the time of care provision (Cuijpers, Hosman, & Munnichs, 1996). Other individual characteristics affecting treatment outcomes include religiosity (R. S. Hebert, Dang, & Schulz,

2007), caregiver vigilance (D. Mahoney et al., 2003) and ethnicity (Coon et al., 2004; Haley et al., 2004). While these findings reflect the significant need for future work examining the effect of individual differences on caregiving intervention outcomes, these particular variables are outside the immediate scope of the proposed research.

i. Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH) Program One of the most cited effective interventions for dementia caregivers is the Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH) program (Alzheimer's Association, 2015; Mittelman, 2013). The REACH program, developed in 1995 and funded by the National Institute of Aging and National Institute on Nursing Research, aimed to carry out social and behavioral interventions to improve family caregiving of patients with Alzheimer's disease and related disorders (Schulz et al., 2003). The REACH trial and subsequent work are the most well-funded and heavily published-on manualized caregiver interventions. This multi-site randomized control trial attempted to evaluate the efficacy of various theory-driven interventions that are all consistent with the stress-health model - change the nature of the stressor, the appraisal and/or the response (Schulz et al., 2003). Interventions lasted approximately six months and included individual information and support strategies, group support and family systems therapy, psychoeducational and skill-based training approaches, home-based environmental interventions or enhanced technology support systems (Schulz et al., 2003). A total of 9 active intervention groups were implemented across six sites, with a control condition at each site (Wisniewski et al., 2003). All sites used similar inclusion and exclusion criteria and a common measurement protocol (Wisniewski et al., 2003). A total of 1,222 caregiving dyads participated among the six sites collectively (Wisniewski et al., 2003).

Overall, results demonstrated that active group interventions were more successful at reducing caregiver burden than control groups (Gitlin et al., 2003; Schulz et al., 2003). In addition, interventions that promoted active caregiver engagement (e.g., role play) had the greatest impact in reducing caregiver depression (Wisniewski et al., 2003). Women and participants with a high school education or less in the active intervention groups reported reduced caregiver burden compared to women and participants with a high school education in the control groups. Similarly, Hispanics, non-spouse caregivers and participants with a high school education groups reported less depressive symptomatology relative to participants with the same characteristics in the control group (Wisniewski et al., 2003).

REACH informed the subsequent REACH II trials, which aimed to test a single intervention at multiple sites with ethnically diverse populations (Schulz et al., 2003). Based on results from REACH, the REACH II intervention was designed to target specific problem areas (depression, burden, self-care and healthy behaviors, social support and problem behaviors), respond to the individual needs of caregivers and elicit active engagement from caregivers. The intervention, offered in Spanish and English, lasted 6 months with 12 in-home sessions, 3 telephone session, and 5 structured telephone support group sessions. Over 600 participants (1/3 White or Caucasian, 1/3 Black, 1/3 Hispanic or Latino) engaged in the intervention across all five sites combined. Results demonstrated that intervention-group participants had lower prevalence of clinical depression (defined by CES-D score greater than 14) than did control group respondents (Belle et al., 2006). Intervention-group participants who were White or Caucasian and Hispanic or Latino had significantly greater improvements in quality of life (measured by indicators of depression, burden, social support, self-care and patient problem

behaviors) compared to control group participants (Belle et al., 2006). Data analyses comparing pre- and post-intervention measures revealed that the intervention-group caregivers endorsed significantly improved general health, sleep, mood and physical health after the intervention (Elliott, Burgio, & Decoster, 2010). No significant difference was found, however, in the number of care recipients placed in a long-term care facility between the intervention group and control group (Belle et al., 2006).

The REACH II intervention was then modified as the REACH: Offering Useful Treatments (REACH OUT) program to be adapted for use by Area Agencies on Aging (AAAs). The REACH OUT intervention was implemented across four AAAs and consisted of 4 home visits and 3 phone calls over a 4-month period (Burgio et al., 2009). Results demonstrated that caregivers reported less subjective burden, frustration, depression and increased social support (Burgio et al., 2009). More recently, the REACH program has been adapted within the Veterans Affairs system (REACH VA; Nichols, Martindale-Adams, Burns, Zuber, & Graney, 2016). Modifications included reducing the intervention to four sessions, with optional additional sessions available and broadening the modality of treatment to in-person and/or telephone options. Preliminary results demonstrated that after the intervention, caregivers endorsed less burden, anxiety, depression and stress symptomatology, with effect sizes ranging from small (Cohen's *d* = 0.24) to moderate (Cohen's *d* = 0.46; Nichols et al., 2016).

Another well-funded and empirically supported caregiver intervention is the New York University (NYU) Caregiver Intervention (Mittelman et al., 1993). This comprehensive intervention includes two individual sessions and four family sessions targeted at providing education and resources, and teaching skills to manage problem behaviors over a 4-month

ii. New York University (NYU) Caregiver Intervention

period. Caregivers then join a formalized weekly caregiver support group with no session limit, and are provided with ad hoc in-person or telephone counseling as needed (Mittelman et al., 1993). Results demonstrated that compared to control group interventions, the NYU intervention reduced caregiver depression (Mittelman et al., 1995) and reduced caregiver distress associated with problem behaviors displayed by the care recipient (Mittelman, Roth, Haley, & Zarit, 2004). Unlike the REACH trials, the NYU Caregiver Intervention has been found to delay care recipient's time to admission to a nursing home by an average of 228.36 days (Gaugler, Reese, & Mittelman, 2013). Further research suggests improvement in caregiver well-being (increased social support, reduced depression, and improved management of behavior problems) as a mechanism by which nursing home placement delay occurs (Mittelman et al., 2006).

iii.Limitations of the REACH Program and NYU Caregiver Intervention While both the REACH trials and NYU Caregiver Intervention have demonstrated success in reducing adverse caregiver outcomes, there are several limitations to these interventions. First, and most notably, the REACH II and NYU Caregiver Intervention require substantial financial and resource capital, including trained professionals. They also necessitate a 4-to-6 month time commitment from caregivers who have may have many demands and limited respite care options. While briefer adaptions in the REACH OUT and REACH VA protocols have demonstrated encouraging results, they continue to necessitate resource capital . Thus, several brief interventions have been developed in an effort to address these limitations.

## iv. Brief Interventions

The Savvy Caregiver Program is an evidenced-based, 6-week intervention for dementia caregivers aimed at strengthening caregivers' knowledge, skill and outlook for caregiving (Hepburn, Lewis, Sherman, & Tornatore, 2003). While initial program evaluations have

demonstrated some efficacy in reducing caregiver distress and burden and increasing caregiver mastery (Hepburn et al., 2003; Hepburn, Lewis, Tornatore, Sherman, & Bremer, 2007), the program is psychoeducational with limited active caregiver engagement.

In contrast, Project CARE is a behavioral intervention aimed at reducing caregiver distress related to care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms, care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms overall and caregiver burden (Gonyea, O'Connor, & Boyle, 2006). Project CARE involves five, 90-minute weekly sessions that are designed to increase caregivers' engagement in pleasant events and to teach caregivers behavior management techniques for managing care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms in the home environment. In a randomized control trial, 80 caregivers, mostly spouses and adult children, were assigned to either the behavioral intervention group or a psychoeducational control group. Compared to participants in the control group, participants in the intervention group reported significantly lower caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms (Gonyea et al., 2006). No significant differences, however, were found in reduction of caregiver burden and number of neuropsychiatric symptoms displayed by the care recipient between the two groups. These findings, among others, provide support for the efficacy of brief interventions and the use of targeted interventions based on principles of behavioral therapy (Gonyea et al., 2006).

The proposed caregiver support group is designed according to Gonyea and colleagues' (2006) caregiver intervention given the promising results of both efficacy and effectiveness. Similar to Project CARE, the intervention to be employed in the proposed research is brief, based on principles of behavior therapy, includes social, behavioral, and problem-solving components, and elicits active caregiver involvement. The one notable modification is the addition of a 90-minute session, led by a local Alzheimer and Dementia resource group, to

provide caregivers with valuable resources related to caregiving. Resources include and are not limited to information about elder law attorneys, geriatric health professionals, transportation services, nursing home placements and respite care options. This modification was made in an effort to increase group members' knowledge of community resources, navigate the formal resource system, provide respite care options and strengthen their support network. This increased access to resources may increase caregiver preparedness and decrease caregiver burden. The proposed intervention also aligns with what caregivers have reported as beneficial in caregiver interventions: (1) problem-solving for the future; (2) help navigating the formal resource system and strengthening the informal support system; (3) help managing care recipient's troubling behaviors; and (4) facilitating engagement in self-care (Samia, Hepburn, & Nichols, 2012). Further, to increase caregiver self-efficacy, clinical recommendations suggest to provide skill building and psychoeducation, case management, and emotion management in 6 90-120-minute sessions (Tang & Chan, 2016).

#### Proposed Research

The overall purpose of this study is to examine the efficacy of a theoretically-based caregiver support group in a community primary care setting. The primary objective is to improve caregiver-related outcomes of participants in the active caregiver support group above and beyond those found in participants in community caregiver support groups (i.e., control/treatment as usual group). Specifically, we hypothesize that:

*Hypothesis 1:* Participants in the active caregiver support group will report feeling more prepared to fulfill the role of dementia caregiver as measured by higher mean scores on the Caregiver Preparedness Scale (CPS) at the end of the six-week period compared to participants in the community caregiver support groups.

*Hypothesis 2:* Participants in the active caregiver support group will report experiencing less caregiver strain as measured by lower scores on the Caregiver Strain Index (CSI) at the end of the six-week period compared to participants in the community caregiver support groups.

*Hypothesis 3:* Participants in the active caregiver support group will report experiencing less depressive symptomatology as measured by lower scores on the Center Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CESD-10) at the end of the six-week period compared to participants in the community caregiver support groups. *Hypothesis 4:* Participants in the active caregiver support group will report experiencing less distress associated with care recipients' neuropsychiatric symptoms as measured by lower scores on the Distress scale of the Neuropsychiatric Inventory – Questionnaire (NPI-Q) at the end of the six-week period compared to participants in the compared to participants in the compared to participants caregiver support groups.

*Hypothesis 5*: Participants in the active caregiver support group will indicate being satisfied overall with the group as measured by high ratings on the Satisfaction Survey at the end of the six-week group. Satisfaction with the support group will be indicated by a mean score of 3.5 or higher (scale is described below) in response to questions assessing whether (A) provided information was informative; (B) language used in group was easy to understand; (C) information discussed in group is useful; (D) length of program was appropriate; and (E) willingness to recommend the group to other caregivers. *Auxiliary Aim*: To examine the possible moderating role of filial obligation on the relationship between caregiver symptoms, as measured by summing ADL, IADL, and

NPI-Q symptom severity scores, and caregiver burden, as measured by the CSI, and caregiver depressive symptoms, as measured by the CESD-10.

### **CHAPTER 2: METHODS**

#### **Participants**

A total of 63 participants enrolled in the study, of which 41 participants completed the study. Participant inclusion criteria included being 18 years or older, English-speaking and caring for an adult suffering from cognitive impairment related to dementia. The nature of the dementia may vary and be related to a wider degree of geriatric diseases (e.g., stroke, Parkinson's disease and traumatic brain injury). For the active caregiver support group, participant inclusion criteria also included attending at least four of the six sessions. Returning participants in the active caregiver support group who attended the group prior were excluded.

Of the 63 participants enrolled in the study, 36 enrolled in the active caregiver support group and 27 enrolled in the control group. In the active caregiver support group, 1 participant did not endorse that their care recipient suffered from cognitive impairment, 4 participants had participated in the group prior and 1 participant did not attend at least 4 sessions; thus, these participants were excluded. Of the remaining 30 participants in the active group, 8 participants did not complete the group (i.e., 6-week follow up measures) leaving 22 participants in the active group. Of the 22 participants in the active caregiver support group, 59.1% attended all six sessions, 31.8% attended five sessions and 9.1% attended four sessions. In the control group, 1 participants did not complete the 6-week follow-up measures; thus, they were excluded from the study and 19 participants remained in the control group.

An a priori power analysis was conducted to determine the sample size needed to achieve a moderate effect (Cohen's d = 0.5) given previous reports of moderate effect sizes across the various outcomes. Based on these anticipated effect size estimates, results of a power analysis

suggest an 80 percent probability of identifying statistically significant effects of treatment with a sample size of 32 participants.

#### Method

The present study collected participants for the active caregiver support group via multiple email listserves of local organizations involved with the care of older adults, University of Central Florida-affiliated email listserves and brochures placed in various facilities related to older adults throughout the Orlando community. Participants in the treatment as usual (control) caregiver support group were recruited by contacting various community run support group leaders, including those run by local churches and nursing homes, in both the Orlando and Chicago areas.

Participants in the active caregiver support group attended a six-week caregiver support group located in a primary care clinic. Sessions were 90 minutes each, and held weekly for six consecutive weeks. The groups were co-facilitated by two doctoral-level graduate students who have had prior clinical experience, and at least one of whom has obtained their Master's degree. Groups consisted of 3-7 participants, with the exception of one group, which had two. All group sessions were audio recorded on a double password protected iPad for treatment fidelity purposes and deleted within two weeks of the recording. The six-week caregiver support group was designed according to Gonyea and colleagues' (2006) targeted behavioral intervention for caregivers of individuals with Alzheimer's disease. The core content of the group included: (1) improving caregiver self-care by promoting caregiver behavioral activation; (2) teaching effective management of psychiatric and behavioral symptoms (e.g., refusing meals, arguing and wandering) posed by care recipients using contingency management and effective communication; and (3) increasing awareness and education of available professional services

related to caregiving (e.g., legal services, transportation options and evaluation of residential care facilities). Here is a brief outline of the six sessions (the full treatment manual can be found in the Appendix C):

Session 1: Provide overview of the group intervention, review Alzheimer's disease and dementia and facilitate introductions. Introduce concept of self-care through engagement in pleasant activities. Administer intake assessment packet (see Appendix D). Session 2: Review self-care as a method to reduce caregiver distress and burden. Have Alzheimer's and Dementia Resource Center (ADRC) representative provide valuable resources related to caregiving.

Session 3: Provide psycho-education on fundamentals of behavior management through ABC's (antecedent, behavior and consequence).

Session 4: Discuss goal setting regarding behavior change and strategies to improve relationship between caregiver and care recipient, including effective communication. Session 5: Review the ABC behavioral chain and continue teaching behavior modification techniques. Problem-solve implementation difficulties.

Session 6: Review importance of self-care and fundamentals of behavior change, and discuss plans for future. Administer exit assessment packet (see Appendix E).

If a participant missed a session, they were provided with handouts and content from the missed session at the next group and given an opportunity to discuss any questions with the group leaders; no formal make-up session was provided. Treatment fidelity was assessed by recording each session and rating which treatment components were present in each session (see Appendix H for Treatment Fidelity Coding Sheet). Two graduate student raters coded each session and participated in weekly group supervision for training.

Participants in the control group attended their community support groups as usual. These long-standing community support groups were held monthly with open enrollment. They were relatively unstructured and included components of limited psycho-education and social support. While facilitated with group leaders (e.g., church employees or social work employees at older adult living facilitites), the content of the group was provided and driven by group members. The intake assessment (see Appendix F) data was collected onsite at their group meeting location. The exit assessment (see Appendix G) data was collected six weeks after their intake assessment data either onsite at their group meeting, or individually at their preferred location if no group was held during week six. Note, the community control support groups utilized in this study met monthly. Participants in both the active and control groups received a monetary compensation of 10 dollars upon completing the intake assessment pack and again upon completing the exit assessment packet.

#### Measures

Demographic Variables. Participants provided information on the following demographic variables for themselves and their care recipients via self-report during the intake survey assessment: (1) age (in years); (2) sex (male or female); (3) ethnicity (African-American/Black; American Indian/Native Alaskan; Asian/Southeast Asian/Asian-American;
Caucasian/European/White; Native Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander; or Latino(a)/Hispanic.); (4) highest level of education completed (less than 8<sup>th</sup> grade; 8<sup>th</sup> to 11<sup>th</sup> grade; 12<sup>th</sup> grade; Some college; Associate's degree; Bachelor's degree; or Graduate degree); and (5) income (less than \$20,000; \$20,000 to \$39,999; \$40,000 to \$64,999; \$65,000 to \$104,999; or \$105,000 or more)
Functional Independence of Care Recipient. Participants indicated the functional independence of their care recipient by noting how much difficulty their care recipient has while
completing Activities of Daily Living (ADLs) and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADLs). ADLs were measured using five criteria: walking across a room, getting in and out of bed, dressing, bathing and eating. IADLs were measured using three criteria: using the telephone, taking medication and handling money. Participants indicated the amount of difficulty their care recipient experiences with each of these activities on a 6-point rating scale, with 0 indicating no difficulty and 5 indicating extreme difficulty. Hence, higher ADL and IADL scores indicate that care recipients are experiencing more difficulty, and thus, more disability.

**Obligation Scale.** The Obligation Scale (Cicirelli, 1991) is a 7-item scale that measures participants' global sense of obligation to care for and assist family members. Participants rated their level of agreement or disagreement with statements assessing obligation on a 5-point Likert scale with 1 indicating strong disagreement and 5 indicating strong agreement. Items in this scale include "I feel a sense of obligation to help," "I feel that I should do my part in helping," and "I would feel guilty if I didn't help." Higher scores suggest greater global feelings of obligation. The internal consistency (alpha) of this measure is 0.83 (Cicirelli, 1993).

### **Outcome Variables**

*Caregiving Preparedness*. The Preparedness for Caregiving Scale (Archbold et al., 1990) is an 8-item scale that measures the level of preparedness the participant feels he or she is to perform various aspects of caregiving. Items include questions such as "How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?" and "How well prepared do you think you are to respond to and handle emergencies that involve him or her?" Participants answered these questions on a 5-point Likert scale with 0 indicating the participants felt "not at all prepared" and 5 indicating the participant felt "very well prepared." Higher mean scores

suggest feeling more prepared to take on the caregiving role. The internal consistency (alpha) of this measure ranges from 0.88-0.93 (Schumacher, Stewart, & Archbold, 2007).

Depressive Symptomatology. Depressive symptomatology was assessed using the 10item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CESD-10; E. M. Andresen, Malmgren, Carter, & Patrick, 1994), a shortened version of the 20-item CES-D measure (Radloff, 1997). Eight of the ten items are worded negatively (e.g., "I felt depressed") and two of the items are worded positively (e.g., "I was happy"), and thus reverse scored. Participants recorded how often they experienced these symptoms of depression during the past week by choosing one of four options: rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day); some or a little of the time (1-2 days); occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3-4 days); and all of the time (5-7 days). Higher scores suggest that the participant is experiencing greater depressive symptomatology, and scores greater than 10 suggest that the participant is experiencing clinically significant levels of depression (E. M. Andresen et al., 1994). The internal consistency of this measure in caregiver research is high (Cronbach's alpha = 0.86-0.88; E.M. Andresen, Byers, Friary, Kosloski, & Montgomery, 2013). The CESD-10 is an internationally used scale to assess depressive symptomatology (Cheng, Chan, & Fung, 2006; Gonzalez et al., 2017), has been validated widely across clinical and community populations (Bjorgvinsson, Kertz, Bigda-Peyton, McCoy, & Aderka, 2013; Mohebbi et al., 2018), and is used commonly in caregiver research (Gallagher et al., 2011; Mausbach et al., 2012).

*Caregiver Strain.* The Caregiver Strain Index (CSI; Robinson, 1983) is a 13-item measure that assesses for burden associated with caregiving. Participants responded either "yes" or "no" to statements conveying the varying aspects of caregiving that may be burdensome, such as "Sleep is disturbed (e.g., because \_\_\_\_\_ is in and out of bed or wandering around at night)" and

"It is a financial strain." The internal consistency is high (Chronbach's alpha = 0.86; Robinson, 1983). The CSI is a measure of caregiver strain that is concise and has been used previously in research among caregivers of individuals with dementia (Diwan, Hougham, & Sachs, 2004; Mahdavi, Fallahi-Khoshknab, Mohammadi, Hosseini, & Haghi, 2017).

*Neuropsychiatric Inventory-Questionnaire*. The Neuropsychiatric Inventory-Questionnaire (NPI-Q), adapted from the standard Neuropsychiatric Inventory (NPI), is an informant-based (typically caregivers) assessment of care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms over the past month (Kaufer et al., 2000). The NPI-Q assesses 12 symptom domains (delusions, hallucinations, agitation/aggression, depression/dysphoria, anxiety, elation/euphoria, apathy/indifference, disinhibition, irritability/lability, motor disturbance, nighttime behaviors and appetite/eating behaviors). Participants first respond "yes" or "no" to the presence of the symptom; if "yes," participants rated: (1) the severity of the symptom (i.e., how it affects the patient) on a 1 (noticeable, but not a significant change) to 3 (very marked or prominent, a dramatic change) Likert scale; and (2) the caregiver distress experienced by the symptom (i.e., how it affects the informant) on a 0 (not distressing at all) to 5 (extreme or very severe; extremely distressing, unable to cope) Likert scale. The NPI-Q produces a total symptom severity scale score and a total distress scale score. Test-retest correlations range from 0.80-0.94, and the correlation between the NPI-Q and NPI ranges from 0.90-0.95 (Kaufer et al., 2000).

*Participant Satisfaction*. A Caregiver Support Group Satisfaction Survey was developed to assess participant's satisfaction with the active caregiver support group. The survey consists of 7 statements assessing varying domains of the group (e.g., "The information provided was informative; "The language used was easy to understand;" and "The length of the program was appropriate"). Participants in the active caregiver support group rated their agreement with these

7 statements on a 4-point Likert scale from 1 (Disagree) to 4 (Agree). For purposes of this study, the two statements measuring caregiver burden and caregiver preparedness will not be utilized as they are better captured independently with the measures stated above. Further, the survey asks three open-ended questions allowing participants to identify strengths and weaknesses the group, and further topics of discussion they would like to be included in the group.

#### Statistical Methods

In an effort to retain statistical power, missing item-level data for participants were imputed using person mean imputation method if the variable was continuous and person modal imputation if the variable was dichotomous. A total of 12 item-level data points were imputed of the possible 3,553 item-level data points (i.e., 0.003% of the data). These imputations allowed for total scale scores to be calculated and retained participants in subsequent analyses. Missing item-level data was not imputed if the participant did not respond to any items on a particular measure, and that participant was deleted for related analyses using pairwise deletion methods. No imputations were performed for missing demographic information. Thus, the *n* for baseline comparison analyses (results in *Tables 1-3*) may differ by 1-3 participants from the listed *n*.

Group comparisons between the active intervention and control groups were made using Chi-square statistics for categorical variables and either *t*-tests for continuous variables with normal distributions or Mann-Whitney *U* tests for continuous variables with skewed distributions. Due to the low statistical power, it is methodically defensible to evaluate the outcomes independently. Thus, hypotheses 1-4 were examined using a series of two-way mixed design Analysis of Covariance (ANCOVA). The within-subjects factor was time (pre- and postintervention); the between-subjects factor was condition (two levels: active intervention group and control group); and the dependent variable was the outcome variable of interest (scores on

the Caregiver Preparedness Scale, CESD-10, Caregiver Strain Index and NPI-Q Distress scale). Covariates were identified by determining which variables differed significantly at baseline between the active and control groups. Hypothesis 5 examining participants' satisfaction with the active caregiver support group was addressed using descriptive statistics. The auxiliary aim examining the moderating role of filial obligation on caregiver burden and caregiver depressive symptomatology outcomes was analyzed using linear regression analyses. All data were analyzed using *IBM SPSS Statistics 23*.

#### **CHAPTER 3: RESULTS**

A total of 41 participants completed the study, with 22 in the active caregivers support group and 19 in the control group. There were no significant differences on any of the demographic variables and baseline measures between those participants who completed the study (n = 41) and those who did not (n = 22; see *Table 1*). For the active group alone, however, participants who completed the study (n = 22; M = 62.59, SD = 11.04) were significantly older than participants who did not complete the study (n = 8; M = 47.13, SD = 19.77; t(28) = -2.72, p= .01; see *Table 2*).

For participants who completed the study, those in the active caregiver support group were on average 62.59-years-old, mostly female (86.4%), Caucasian (63.6%) and identified as either the care recipient's child (47.6%) or spouse (38.1%). The majority had a Bachelor's degree or greater (63.6%) and a little over half of them reported not working (54.5%). The majority of care recipients being cared for by active group caregivers either resided in their caregiver's home (36.4%) or their own home (31.8%). Participants in the control group were on average 67-years-old, mostly female (73.7%), Caucasian (84.2%) and identified as either the care recipient's child (38.9%) or spouse (55.6%). A little over half reported not working (55.6%) and a little under half reported having a Bachelor's degree or greater (47.4%). Over half of the care recipients in the control group resided in their caregiver's home (57.9%). Participants in the active caregiver support group reported feeling significantly less prepared as a caregiver on the Caregiver Preparedness Scale (M = 1.69, SD = 0.54) than participants in the control group (M =2.45, SD = 0.67; t(39) = -4.00, p < .001). Additionally, more participants in the control group (94.7%) reported living with their spouse/long-term partner than did participants in the active group (68.2%;  $\chi^2(1) = 4.58$ , p = .05). Participants in the control group (Modal Income = \$65,000 to \$104,999) also reported a significantly greater annual income than participants in the active group (Modal Income = \$20,000 to \$39,999; U = 119.50, p = .04). Complete results comparing active and control group participants at baseline are displayed in *Table 3*.

Treatment fidelity was measured by assessing treatment adherence and inter-rater reliability between rater coding for treatment adherence. Results analyzing three different caregiver support groups (i.e., a total of 18 sessions) suggest that there was strong adherence to the caregiver support group treatment protocol ( $\kappa = 0.83-0.88, 95\%$  CI = 0.75 to 0.95, *p*<.001). Inter-rater reliability results reveal that there was substantial agreement between raters for treatment adherence ( $\kappa = 0.76, 95\%$  CI = 0.66 to 0.85, *p*<.001).

Four separate two-way mixed ANCOVA analyses were run to determine if participants' scores on the four outcome measures – caregiver preparedness, caregiver depression, caregiver strain and caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms – changed over time and differed between groups significantly. Violations of normality were assessed utilizing the Shapiro-Wilk statistic and skewedness scores. Results revealed that caregiver depressive symptom (CESD-10) scores at baseline for the active group and at 6-week follow-up for the control group, caregiver distress scores related to neuropsychiatric symptoms (NP1-Q Distress) at 6-week follow-up for the active group and caregiver strain (CSI) scores at 6-week follow-up for the active group and caregiver strain (CSI) scores at 6-week follow-up for the active group and follow-up for the active and control group all violated normality. Thus, square root transformations were performed on CESD-10 and NPI-Q Distress scores at baseline and follow-up for the active and control groups in an effort to normalize the data (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). This transformation eliminated the violation of normality for CESD-10 scores and significantly reduced the violation of normality for NPI-Q Distress scores. Other transformations, including log-based and inverse

transformations, were attempted for NPI-Q Distress scores; however, theses transformations did not result in compliance with assumptions of normality for the active and control groups. CSI scores were not transformed as the histogram demonstrated a slightly bi-modal distribution for which transformations do not correct. After the transformations, outliers were detected utilizing boxplots and the following outliers were found for each outcome variable: 1 for caregiver preparedness; 4 for caregiver depression; 1 for caregiver strain; and 4 for caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms. Analyses run with and without the outliers did not significantly differ, and thus the outliers were kept in the sample in an effort to retain statistical power. Lastly, homogeneity of variance was assessed using Levene's test of homogeneity of variances and this assumption was met for all four two-way mixed ANCOVA analyses (p > .05).

Given that caregiver preparedness, caregiver income and living with a spouse/long-term partner significantly differed at baseline between the active and control groups, these three variables were chosen to be covariates (see *Table 3*) with the exception that baseline caregiver preparedness was not included as covariate when running the analyses for caregiver preparedness as the outcome variable. Caregiver preparedness was the most proximal outcome variable in this study. Results from the two-way mixed ANCOVA revealed a significant interaction effect between time and group (F(1, 35) = 13.01, p = .001,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.27$ ). The effect of time on caregiver preparedness was dependent on which group the participant was in. Specifically, while mean caregiver preparedness score significantly increased over time for the active group, changing from 1.72 (SD = 0.54) to 2.49 (SD = 0.67), it remained invariant for the control group, shifting from 2.44 (SD = 0.69) to 2.43 (SD = 0.66; see *Table 4*). No significant main effects were found for time (F(1, 35) = 1.93, p = .17,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$ ) and group (F(1, 35) = 2.79, p = .10,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.07$ ), nor for any of the covariates.

The second two-way mixed ANCOVA examined the therapeutic effect on caregiver depressive symptoms. No significant main effects of time (F(1, 34) = 0.92, p = .35,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.03$ ) and group (F(1, 34) = 1.72, p = .20,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$ ) were found, and the interaction between time and group also was non-significant (F(1, 34) = 1.87, p = .18,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.05$ ). However, mean caregiver preparedness score at baseline was a significant predictor (F(1, 34) = 4.43, p = .04,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.12$ ) of depressive symptoms with correlation results revealing that caregiver preparedness was inversely related to depressive symptoms.

The third two-way mixed ANCOVA examined outcomes with respect to caregiver strain. Again, neither significant main effects of time (F(1, 33) = 0.28, p = .60,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$ ) and group (F(1, 33) = 0.42, p = .52,  $\eta_p^2 = 0.01$ ) nor interaction effect of time and group (F(1, 33) = 0.01, p = .91,  $\eta_p^2 < 0.001$ ) were found. The covariates did not significantly relate to caregiver strain.

The fourth and final two-way mixed ANCOVA examined outcomes with respect to caregiver distress due to neuropsychiatric symptoms. Again, no significant main effects for time  $(F(1, 29) = 0.04, p = .84, \eta_p^2 < 0.001)$  or group  $(F(1, 29) = 0.82, p = .37, \eta_p^2 = 0.03)$ , nor interaction effect of time and group  $(F(1, 29) = 0.06, p = .80, \eta_p^2 < 0.001)$  were found. The covariates also were non-significant. Please see *Table 5* for complete ANCOVA results.

The covariates were non-significant predictors of outcome variables, except for mean caregiver preparedness score at baseline predicting caregiver depression, and these analyses were arguably underpowered. To address the possibility that therapeutic effects were undetected as a result of power limitations, a second series of four two-way mixed ANOVA analyses without covariates were completed for each dependent variable and results remained very similar. For caregiver preparedness, results revealed a significant main effect for time and interaction effect for time and group; the main effect for group was approaching significance with p = .06.

Analogous to prior results, no significant main nor interaction effects of time and group were found for caregiver depressive symptoms, caregiver strain and caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms.

Satisfaction survey results revealed that participants in the active group rated being in overall agreement with the following statements about the active caregiver support group: (A) the information provided was informative (M = 3.91, SD = 0.09); (B) the language used in group was easy to understand (M = 4.00, SD = 0.00); (C) the information discussed in group was useful (M = 3.91, SD = 0.09); (D) length of program was appropriate, (M = 3.82, SD = 0.08); and (E) willingness to recommend the group to other caregivers (M = 3.91, SD = 0.09). Please refer to *Figure 3* for depiction of results.

Linear regression analyses were run to determine if filial obligation moderated the relationship between care recipient symptoms and caregiver strain and caregiver depressive symptoms. Care recipient symptom scores were calculated by standardizing and then summing the following variables: ADL total score, IADL total score and NPI Symptom Severity scale score. Scores on filial obligation reflected a ceiling effect and thus, filial obligation was dichotomized using a median split (DeCoster, Gallucci, & Iselin, 2011; Iacobucci, Posavac, Kardes, Schneider, & Popovich, 2015). While more variability in filial obligation was anticipated, most participants attending a caregiver support group for their care recipient would feel personally responsible for the care of their aging loved one, and thus have high scores on filial obligation. No outliers were identified for either caregiver strain or caregiver depressive symptoms, and residuals were adequately independent, as assessed by Durbin-Watson statistics of 1.83 and 2.07, respectively. The assumption of homoscedasticity was met as assessed by visual inspection of a plot of standardized residuals versus standardized predicted values.

Multicollinearity was not present, as assessed by Variance Inflation Factor (VIF) scores that ranged between 1.03 and 1.98 and are well below the cut-off score of 10 (O'brien, 2007). Residuals were normally distributed as assessed by visual inspection of a normal probability plot. Stepwise linear regression models were then run, first entering care recipient symptom score and the median split obligation total score into the model (Model 1) and then entering the interaction term into the model (Model 2). For caregiver strain, care recipient symptom total and caregiver filial obligation only accounted for 1.4% of the variance (Adjusted  $R^2 = 0.014$ ). Filial obligation did not moderate the effect of care recipient symptom total on caregiver strain, as evidenced by an increase in total variation explained of 3.5% with the addition of the interaction term, which was not statistically significant (F(1, 34) = 1.31, p = .26). Neither Model 1 nor Model 2 were significant, F(2, 35) = 1.27, p = .29 and F(3, 34) = 1.29, p = .29, respectively.

The second multiple regression examined whether filial obligation moderated the effect of care recipient impairment on caregiver depressive symptoms. Care recipient symptom total and caregiver filial obligation accounted for 12% of the variance in caregiver depressive symptoms. Filial obligation did not moderate the effect of care recipient symptom total on caregiver strain, as evidenced by an increase in total variation explained of 0.6% with the addition of the interaction term, which was not statistically significant (F(1, 35) = 0.25, p = .62). Model 1 was statistically significant (F(2, 36) = 3.59, p = .04), and filial obligation was a significant predictor of caregiver depressive symptoms ( $\beta = 4.19$ , SE = 1.86, p = 0.03). Care recipient total symptom score did not significantly predict caregiver depressive symptoms ( $\beta =$ 0.77, SE = 0.43, p = 0.08). Model 2 was not significant (F(2, 35) = 2.43, p = .08); however, filial obligation remained a significant predictor of caregiver depressive symptoms ( $\beta = 4.25$ , SE = 1.88, p = 0.03). See *Tables 6-8* for complete linear regression results.

#### **CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION**

Overall, results partially support hypothesis 1 with mean caregiver preparedness scores significantly increasing over time for the active group and remaining essentially invariant for the control group. No significant effects were found for caregiver depressive symptoms, caregiver strain and caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms and thus, hypotheses 2, 3 and 4 are not supported. Satisfaction survey results revealed that participants in the active caregiver support group were largely satisfied with the group and this supports hypothesis 5. Active group participants rated the language used in the group to be appropriate, the group to be informative, useful, and suitable in length, and stated that they would recommend the group to others. The auxiliary aim was not supported such that filial obligation was not found to moderate the relationships between care recipient symptom severity and caregiver depression and caregiver strain; however, filial obligation did significantly predict caregiver depression.

Significant increases in the mean caregiver preparedness score for the active caregiver support group suggests that the active caregiver support group facilitated development of caregiver preparedness. These results are to be expected and are consistent with past results of caregiver support groups that include a psychoeducational component (Hepburn et al., 2003; Hepburn et al., 2007). Session 2 in the active group, which increases the provision of information by discussing caregiver resources, may also have contributed to caregivers feeling more prepared. The control group's mean caregiver preparedness score did not change over the 6-week time period and this may reflect that the control caregiver support groups did not target caregiver preparedness. It is important to note that the control group's baseline mean caregiver preparedness score was similar to that of the active group's 6-week follow-up mean caregiver

preparedness score. One hypothesis as to why the caregivers in the control group reported feeling more prepared at baseline is that they may have been attending the caregiver support group for a relatively longer period of time. Compared to the time-limited, 6-week active caregiver support group, community support groups tend to be ongoing for years with monthly meetings. As such, changes in caregiver preparedness and how long they took to come about for the community control participants remain unknown. The active caregiver support group, however, was able to increase its participants' perception of caregiver preparedness and further research in which new caregivers are randomized into the active and control groups may assist is determining if the active caregiver support group accelerates caregiver preparedness relative to a similar control group.

The literature on caregiver support interventions is mixed with respect to effects on caregiver burden (Schulz et al., 2002), and thus it is not surprising that results demonstrated that neither the active nor the control group significantly reduced caregiver strain. These results are also similar to findings from Gonyea and colleagues (2006), whose caregiver support group served as the foundation of the active caregiver support group. Given the inevitable progression of dementia disease processes, behavioral disturbances and level of dependence tend to increase over time, and these factors correlate with caregiver burden (Etters et al., 2008; Garre-Olmo et al., 2016; Papastavrou et al., 2007). Thus, it makes sense that caregiver burden tends to increase over time. Additionally, literature reviews of caregiver burden reveal variety in the definition of caregiver burden both operationally and conceptually (Stommel, Given, & Given, 2016), and this may contribute to the mixed findings in the literature. With respect to caregiver depressive symptomatolgy, our results were not consistent with caregiver support group meta-analytic results demonstrating small to moderate effect sizes for the reduction in caregiver depression

(Brodaty et al., 2003; Pinquart & Sorensen, 2006). It may be that 6-weeks is not enough time to produce measurable change in caregiver depression, which may be a more distal effect (Mittelman, 2008). It is also important to note that both the active and control group as a whole indicated that they were not experiencing clinically significant levels of depression at baseline (i.e., CESD-10 mean scores for both groups were less than the suggestive cut-off score of 10; E. M. Andresen et al., 1994), and thus, interfering with the ability to capture significant reductions in depressive symptomatology. Another possible explanation why depressive symptoms were not significantly improved is that the reported depressive symptoms experienced by caregivers consist of factors above and beyond caregiving that were not addressed by the intervention.

This study's null findings with respect to caregiver distress related to neuropsychiatric symptoms was incongruent with findings reported by Gonyea et al. (2006). One possible reason for non-significant results may be due to the smaller sample size and larger variability in distress scores (i.e., greater SD) in this sample relative to Gonyea's sample, which reduces the power to detect a difference. Additionally, a 6-week follow-up time period may not have been sufficient amount of time for the caregivers in the active caregiver support group to fully implement behavioral management strategies learned and observe changes. Contrary to findings by Gonyea and colleagues (2006), in a meta-analysis of non-pharmacological interventions for neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia, Brodaty and Arasaratnam (2012) reported that interventions implemented by family caregivers are effective at reducing the neuropsychiatric symptoms when the interventions are tailored, include 9-12 sessions, delivered in the home and include 3-6 month follow-up contacts.

The null findings of filial obligation as a moderator between symptom severity and caregiver outcomes may reflect a ceiling effect secondary to selection bias. Specifically, the

sample was highly skewed with respect to filial obligation such that most participants scored high on the measure of filial obligation. Given that these participants self-selected to engage in the caregiver support groups, it is not surprising that they scored highly on the filial obligation measure. It is suggested that future studies capture a wider range of filial obligation scores to better assess its role on the relationship between symptom severity and caregiver outcomes.

Results from the present study inform the caregiver support group literature about the efficacy of a brief, structured, targeted caregiver support group intervention. While the proposed 6-week active caregiver support group did not fully correspond with the hypothesized results, the group demonstrated increased caregiver preparedness with potentially other promising results that may be detected with larger sample sizes. Additionally, it is important to consider that the caregivers in the active support group rated the group to be informative and useful, and indicated that they would recommend this group to others. As mentioned by Mittleman (2008), a highly effective intervention that only attracts a small portion of caregivers may not be as worthwhile as an intervention that appeals to the majority of caregivers though may not be as effective. Further, the active caregiver support group is comprised of of qualities that have been associated with positive outcomes, including being multi-component, requiring active group member participation, maintaining the same group leader, and most notably, consisting of evidenced-base components (Alzheimer's Association, 2018; Chien et al., 2011; Cooke et al., 2001; Parker et al., 2008; Pusey & Richards, 2001). In their 2018 report, the Alzheimer's Association cites that over half (52%) of Area Agencies on Aging did not offer evidenced-base family caregiver interventions.

Another notable quality of the active caregiver support group is that it requires limited resources and is able to be conducted in a primary care clinic, which can increase patients' and

their caregivers' access to care. As stated above, relative to the community control group caregivers, the active group caregivers reported less income, feeling less prepared at baseline and not living a significant other/long-term spouse. This systematic difference in caregivers may possibly suggest that the active caregiver support group held in a primary care clinic captured a subset of caregivers that do not attend community caregiver support groups. Further research examining self-selection of caregivers into particular types of groups may resolve this question.

It also has been suggested that the broad translation of caregiver interventions has been limited by the lack of an economic model for the delivery of these services (Gitlin et al., 2015). In this study, one limitation to participant recruitment for the active caregiver support group was a lack of integration with the primary care clinic's electronic medical record (EMR) system. Subsequently, medical providers did not have a streamlined method to refer potential participants and were continually reminded of the available behavioral health services. Thus, to overcome the nation-wide challenge of translating caregiver interventions in a sustainable manner, it is recommended that these behavioral medicine services be fully integrated on a systematic level and physician education occurs to facilitate appropriate referrals.

Current research supports collaborative care for patients with Alzheimer's in primary care. For example, Callahan et al. (2006) demonstrated that integrated teams, including psychologists who provide caregiver support, help reduce the psychiatric and behavioral symptoms of dementia and related caregiver distress without the use of medications. This is not only beneficial to the caregiver, but also may prevent care recipients from being prescribed medications that have adverse side effects (Brodaty & Arasaratnam, 2012). Recommendations to primary care physicians also have been made to include dementia caregiver evaluations and provide subsequent recommendations, resources and referrals (Dang, Badiye, & Kelkar, 2008;

Levine, 2003). Thus, having caregiver support groups in primary care clinics can provide primary care physicians with an accessible referral source and more effectively address caregiver distress.

Results of the active caregiver support group also revealed an attrition bias such that participants who did not complete the study were significantly younger than those who completed the study. Reasons for dropout per participants' verbal reports included lack of alternate caregiver for their care recipient, caring for young children and work-related responsibilities. This attrition bias reflects a large challenge faced in caregiver research – the underrepresentation of younger adult caregivers. National reports examining caregivers in the United States report that nearly half (48%) of the caregivers of adults with needs are between the ages of 18 and 49 (National Alliance for Caregiving & AARP, 2015), and yet mean ages of caregivers reported in the literature are between 43 and 72 (Chien et al., 2011). One explanation for this underrepresentation is that younger caregivers may have more competing demands, including work/education and romantic relationships. Some also may be sandwich generation caregivers – caring for an aging parent and children – and thus face conflicting caregiving demands (Alzheimer's Association, 2018). Given that younger caregivers report experiencing similar distress and desires for similar support resources (Levine et al., 2005), future research may want to explore options, including targeted outreach and technology-based interventions, to include them.

A major limitation of this research include small sample size, and thus limited power to detect significant changes over time and differences between groups. Post-hoc power analyses reveals that the observed power ranged from 2.9-10%. Small sample sizes remain to be a challenge for clinical and psychosocial intervention studies (Marszalek, Barber, Kohlhart, &

Holmes, 2011). Difficulties in recruiting and maintaining caregivers as participants include caregivers' occupational duties, lack of social support to assist in respite care, and other responsibilities and commitments (e.g., young children). Future research may benefit from further exploring adaptive technology such that caregiver interventions may be provided in the caregiver's preferred choice of location. Future research may also consider utilizing a randomized control trial and implementing mid-treatment data collection such that intent-to-treat analyses using multiple imputation methods may be computed for participants who do not complete treatment; this would help prevent loss of data due to incompletion.

Another limitation of the study is that the control group may not have been well-suited with respect to past caregiving experience. Also, the community control groups utilized were from a broader geographic location and met on a monthly basis, not weekly. While this comparison does not necessarily control for dosage effects, one benefit of sampling these caregivers in community control groups is that these community groups are representative of the groups most commonly utilized by caregivers (i.e., treatment as usual). Future research would benefit from a randomized control design, assessing how long caregivers have been providing care and caregivers' past experiences with support groups to help identify potential confounding variables. While outside the scope of this study, future research may also want to consider care recipient symptom severity and type of care recipient dementia when examining caregiver outcomes.

In their article about challenges and strategies for family care and dementia research, Zarit and Femia (2008) discuss challenges in finding significant findings and positive outcomes from caregiver intervention studies due to the heterogeneity amongst caregivers. They explain that caregivers not only vary in their presentation of burden and depression, but also that they

have varying goals with respect to caregiving, and thus, may not all benefit from the same interventions. To better optimize caregiver intervention research, the authors recommend that investigators clearly identify goals of the intervention, define what successful change would be, and carefully select caregivers' whose identified needs align with the intervention's goals such that relevant changes can be detected (Zarit & Femia, 2008).

With the projected growth of the older adult population and increase in the prevalence of dementia, caregivers will continue to face associated physical, emotional, social and financial burden. While intensive support groups may be well-suited to caregiver needs, they are often difficult to implement given financial, personnel and resource constraints. The 6-week caregiver support group in this study offers a promising intervention that can be readily implemented and accessible in primary care clinics and further research, including replication with larger sample sizes, is recommended.

## **APPENDIX A: FIGURES**



Figure 1: Active Group Sample Selection



Figure 2: Control Group Sample Selection



Figure 3: Satisfaction Survey Results for Active Group Participants

### **APPENDIX B: TABLES**

Table 1: Baseline comparisons between participants who met inclusionary criteria and completed
the study $(n = 41)$ and participants who met inclusionary criteria and did not complete the study
(n = 22).

	Completers	Non-Completers
	<i>n</i> = 41	<i>n</i> = 22
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)
Caregiver Age	64.63 (11.13)	56.47 (21.13)
Care Recipient Age	77.73 (9.72)	75.67 (9.19)
ADL Total Score	7.72 (6.70)	8.40 (7.97)
IADL Total Score	9.98 (5.06)	7.47 (5.00)
Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score	2.04 (0.71)	2.27 (0.61)
CESD-10 Total Score	9.56 (6.09)	9.00 (5.11)
Obligation Total Score	29.15 (7.05)	30.20 (4.46)
CSI Total Score	7.05 (3.46)	7.33 (2.38)
NPI-Q Symptom Total Score	5.95 (2.63)	6.40 (1.92)
NPI-Q Severity Total Score	11.79 (6.70)	11.33 (4.88)
NPI-Q Distress Total Score	14.74 (9.56)	13.27 (6.26)
	Percenta	ge of Sample
Caregiver Gender		
Male	19.5	40.0
Female	80.5	60.0
Care Recipient Gender		
Male	41.5	33.3
Female	58.5	66.7
Caregiver Race		
White	73.2	66.7
Hispanic/Latino	12.2	20.0
Other	14.6	13.3

	Completers $n = 41$	Non-Completers $n = 22$
Variable	Percent	age of Sample
Caregiver Annual Income		
Less than \$20,000	2.6	21.4
\$20,000-\$39,9999	17.9	21.4
\$40,000-\$64,999	20.5	7.1
\$65,000-\$104,999	33.3	14.3
\$105,000 or more	25.6	35.7
<b>Caregiver Hours/Week Work</b>		
0 hours	55.0	53.3
1-10 hours	2.5	6.7
11-20 hours	7.5	6.7
21-30 hours	7.5	6.7
31-40 hours	10.0	=
more than 40 hours	17.5	26.7
<b>Caregiver's Highest Level of Education</b>		
Less than 12th Grade	2.4	-
High School Degree	4.9	-
Some College	24.4	20.0
Associate's Degree	12.2	6.7
Bachelor's Degree	36.6	46.7
Graduate Degree	19.5	26.7
<b>Caregiver Lives with Spouse/Partner</b>	80.5	66.7
<b>Relationship to Care Recipient</b>		
Child	43.6	33.3
Spouse	46.2	46.7
Sibling	2.6	-
Other Relative	7.7	20.0
Care Recipient Residence		
Caregiver's home	46.3	42.9
Their own home	17.1	42.9
Nursing home	2.4	-
Assisted Living Facility	14.6	14.3
Other Relative's Home	7.3	-
Other	12.2	

	Completers	Non-Completers		
	n=22	n = 8		
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)		
Caregiver Age*	62.59 (11.04)	47.13 (19.77)		
Care Recipient Age	77.00 (10.19)	75.63 (4.81)		
ADL Total Score	7.86 (6.84)	5.50 (7.56)		
IADL Total Score	8.50 (5.48)	5.50 (1.49)		
<b>Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score</b>	1.69 (0.54)	2.11 (0.56)		
CESD-10 Total Score	9.00 (7.00)	8.29 (6.18)		
<b>Obligation Total Score</b>	29.32 (6.80)	31.25 (3.54)		
CSI Total Score	6.95 (3.82)	7.25 (2.71)		
NPI-Q Symptom Total Score	5.82 (2.87)	6.25 (1.98)		
NPI-Q Severity Total Score	10.86 (7.23)	10.75 (4.83)		
<b>NPI-Q Distress Total Score</b>	14.14 (10.62)	12.75 (6.27)		
	10.86 (7.23) 10.75 (4.83)   14.14 (10.62) 12.75 (6.27)   Percentage of Sample			
Caregiver Gender	<u>.</u>			
Male	13.6	37.5		
Female	86.4	62.5		
Care Recipient Gender				
Male	50.0	25.0		
Female	50.0	75.0		
Caregiver Race				
White	63.6	37.5		
Hispanic/Latino	18.2	37.5		
Other	18.2	25.0		

Table 2: Baseline comparisons between active group participants who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and active group participants who met inclusionary criteria but did not complete the study (n = 8).

	Completers	Non-Completers
	<i>n</i> = 22	n = 8
Variable	Percenta	age of Sample
Caregiver Annual Income		
Less than \$20,000		37.5
\$20,000-\$39,9999	33.3	12.5
\$40,000-\$64,999	23.8	12.5
\$65,000-\$104,999	23.8	12.5
\$105,000 or more	19.0	25.0
<b>Caregiver Hours/Week Work</b>		
0 hours	54.5	37.5
1-10 hours	-	12.5
11-20 hours	4.5	12.5
21-30 hours	4.5	12.5
31-40 hours	18.2	-
more than 40 hours	18.2	25.0
<b>Caregiver's Highest Level of Education</b>		
Less than 12th Grade	4.5	÷
High School Degree	9.1	2
Some College	22.7	25.0
Associate's Degree		12.5
Bachelor's Degree		37.5
Graduate Degree or greater	63.7	25.0
<b>Caregiver Lives with Spouse/Partner</b>	68.2	62.5
Relationship to Care Recipient		
Child	47.6	37.5
Spouse	38.1	25.0
Sibling	4.8	÷
Other Relative	9.5	37.5
Care Recipient Residence		
Caregiver's home	36.4	28.6
Their own home	31.8	71.4
Nursing Home	4.5	- 1 2 m (m. 2000) 
Assisted Living Facility	13.6	-
Other Relative's Home	4.5	-
Other	9.1	-

*р	<	0.05	

	Active	Control
	<i>n</i> = 22	<i>n</i> = 19
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)
Caregiver Age	62.59 (11.04)	67.00 (11.05)
Care Recipient Age	77.00 (10.19)	78.61 (9.33)
ADL Total Score	7.86 (6.84)	7.55 (6.72)
IADL Total Score	8.50 (5.48)	11.68 (4.01)
Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score***	1.69 (0.54)	2.45 (0.67)
CESD-10 Total Score	9.00 (7.00)	10.21 (4.94)
Obligation Total Score	29.32 (6.80)	28.95 (7.51)
CSI Total Score	6.95 (3.82)	7.17 (3.05)
NPI-Q Symptom Total Score	5.82 (2.87)	6.11 (2.37)
NPI-Q Severity Total Score	10.86 (7.23)	13.00 (5.94)
NPI-Q Distress Total Score	14.14 (10.62)	15.56 (8.14)
	Percentage	e of Sample
Caregiver Gender		
Male	13.6	26.3
Female	86.4	73.7
Care Recipient Gender		
Male	50.0	31.6
Female	50.0	68.4
Caregiver Race		
White	63.6	84.2
Hispanic/Latino	18.2	5.3
Other	18.2	10.5

Table 3: Baseline comparisons between particiants in the active group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and participants in the control group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 19).

	Active	Control	
	<i>n</i> = 22	<i>n</i> = 19	
Variable	Percentage of Sample		
Caregiver Annual Income*			
Less than \$20,000	-	5.6	
\$20,000-\$39,9999	33.8		
\$40,000-\$64,999	23.8	16.7	
\$65,000-\$104,999	23.8	44.4	
\$105,000 or more	19.0	33.3	
<b>Caregiver Hours/Week Work</b>			
0 hours	54.5	55.6	
1-10 hours	-	5.6	
11-20 hours	4.5	11.1	
21-30 hours	4.5	11.1	
31-40 hours	18.2	=	
more than 40 hours	18.2	16.7	
<b>Caregiver's Highest Level of Education</b>			
8th to 11th Grade	4.5	-	
12th Grade	9.1	.≂	
Some College	22.7	26.3	
Associate's Degree	<b>1</b>	26.3	
Bachelor's Degree	40.9	31.6	
Graduate Degree or greater	22.7	15.8	
Caregiver Lives with Spouse/Partner*	68.2	94.7	
<b>Relationship to Care Recipient</b>			
Child	47.6	38.9	
Spouse	38.1	55.6	
Sibling	4.8	8	
Other Relative	9.5	5.6	
Care Recipient Residence			
Caregiver's Home	36.4	57.9	
Their Own Home	31.8	Ξ.	
Nursing Home	4.5	-	
Assisted Living Facility	13.6	15.8	
Other Relative's Home	4.5	10.5	
Other	9.1	15.8	

 $\frac{1}{p < .05; **p < .01; ***p < .001}$ 

	Active $n = 22$	Control n = 19
Variable	M (SD)	M (SD)
	n = 21	n = 18
Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score Baseline	1.72 (0.54)	2.44 (0.69)
Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score 6-Week Follow-up	2.49 (0.67)	2.43 (0.66)
	n = 21	n = 18
CESD-10 Total Score Baseline	9.10 (7.15)	9.56 (4.15)
CESD-10 Total Score 6-Week Follow-up	8.96 (5.47)	8.50 (4.91)
	n = 21	n = 17
Caregiver Strain Index Total Score Baseline	6.86 (3.89)	7.29 (3.10)
Caregiver Strain Index Total Score 6-Week Follow-up	5.71 (2.90)	6.41 (3.37)
	<u><i>n</i> = 20</u>	<u>n = 14</u>
NPI-Q Distress Total Score Baseline	13.95 (10.75)	15.64 (8.71)
NPI-Q Distress Total Score 6-Week Follow-up	13.65 (11.63)	13.43 (8.74)

Table 4: Baseline comparisons on outcome measures between particiants in the active group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 22) and participants in the control group who met inclusionary criteria and completed the study (n = 19).

Table 5: Results from the Four Separate Two-way Mixed ANCOVA Analyses. The within factor was time (baseline and 6-weeks), between factor was group (active or control) and covariates were baseline caregiver income (CG Income), baseline caregiver residing with spouse/long-term partner (CG Spouse) and baseline mean caregiver preparedness score (CP Mean Score Baseline). The four outcome measures were Caregiver Preparedness Mean Score, CESD-10 Total Score (caregiver depressive symptoms), Caregiver Strain Index Total Score, and NPI-Q Distress Total score (caregiver distress related to care recipient's neuropsychiatric symptoms).

		Type III SS	df	MS	F	р	Partial eta <sup>2</sup>
	Widhim Cathianta						
	Time	0.33	1	0.22	1.02	0.17	0.05
	Time*Crown	0.33	1	0.55	12.01	0.17	0.03
	Time Group	2.24	1	2.24	15.01	0.001	0.27
Caregiver	Error (1ime)	0.01	33	0.17			
Preparedness	Between Subjects						
Mean Score	CG Income	0.18	1	0.18	0.26	0.62	0.01
	CG Spouse	0.03	1	0.03	0.04	0.85	0.00
	Group	1.92	1	1.92	2 79	0.10	0.07
	Error	24.04	35	0.69	2.19	0.10	0.07
	LITO	24.04	55	0.07			
	Within Subjects						
	Time	0.43	1	0.43	0.92	0.35	0.03
	Time*Group	0.87	1	0.87	1.87	0.18	0.05
	Error (Time)	15.77	34	0.46			
CESD-10							
<b>Total Score</b>	Between Subjects	2722	31		0.02		0.00
	CG Income	0.90	1	0.90	0.73	0.40	0.02
	CG Spouse	0.47	1	0.47	0.38	0.54	0.01
	CP Mean Score Baseline	5.44	1	5.44	4.43	0.04	0.12
	Group	2.11	1	2.11	1.72	0.20	0.05
	Error	41.80	34	1.23			
	Within Subjects						
	Time	1.65	1	1.65	0.28	0.60	0.01
	Time*Group	0.08	1	0.08	0.01	0.91	0.00
	Error (Time)	192.24	33	5.83			
Caregiver							
Strain Index	Between Subjects						
<b>Total Score</b>	CG Income	1.55	1	1.55	0.10	0.76	0.00
	CG Spouse	41.56	1	41.56	2.63	0.11	0.07
	CP Mean Score Baseline	55.07	1	55.07	3.49	0.07	0.10
	Group	6.68	1	6.68	0.42	0.52	0.01
	Error	521.24	33	15.80			
	Within Cubiaste						
	Time	0.07	1	0.07	0.04	0.94	0.00
	Time*Crown	0.07	1	0.07	0.04	0.84	0.00
	Time-Group	0.10	20	0.10	0.06	0.80	0.00
NBL O	Error (1ime)	40.29	29	1.00			
Distance Tetal	Data and Cable to						
Distress Iotal	between Subjects	0.11		0.11	0.16	0.71	0.01
Score	CG Income	0.44	1	0.44	0.15	0.71	0.01
	CG Spouse	7.46	1	7.46	2.47	0.13	0.08
	CP Mean Score Baseline	8.70	1	8.70	2.88	0.10	0.09
	Group	2.47	1	2.47	0.82	0.37	0.03
	Error	87.72	29	3.03			

						(	Change Sta	titics		
Outcome	Model	R	$R^2$	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	SE	R <sup>2</sup> Change	F change	df1	df2	р
Caregiver Strain	1	0.260	0.067	0.014	3.43	0.067	1.27	2	35	0.29
(CSI)	2	0.320	0.102	0.023	3.42	0.035	1.31	1	34	0.26
<b>Caregiver Depression</b>	1	0.408	0.166	0.120	5.71	0.166	3.59	2	36	0.04
(CESD-10)	2	0.415	0.172	0.101	5.77	0.006	0.25	1	35	0.62

Table 6: Linear Regression Model Results – Variance of outcome variables accounted for by models.

Outcome	Model		SS	df	Mean Square	F	р
Caregiver	1	Regression	29.83	2	14.91	1.27	0.29
Strain (CSI)		Residual	412.18	35	11.78		
		Total	442.01	37			
	2	Regression	45.13	3	15.04	1.29	0.29
		Residual	396.88	34	11.67		
		Total	442.01	37			
Caregiver	1	Regression	234.00	2	117.00	3.59	0.04
Depression		Residual	1174.00	36	32.61		
(CESD-10)		Total	1,407.99	38			
	2	Regression	242.45	3	80.82	2.43	0.08
		Residual	1,165.54	35	33.30		
		Total	1,407.99	38			

Table 7: Linear Regression Model Results – Model significance.

Table 8: Linear Regression Results – Model 1 with main effects of care recipient symptom total (CR Symptom Total) and caregiver obligation (CG Obligation) and Model 2 with the addition of interaction term between care recipient symptom total and caregiver obligation (Interaction CRSymp\*CGObl).

		Unstandardized						
Outcome	Model	Predictor	β	SE	Standardized <b>B</b>	t	р	95% CI
<b>Caregiver Strain</b>	1	(Constant)	6.85	0.80		8.56	0.00	5.22 - 8.47
(CSI)		CR Symptom Total	0.41	0.26	0.26	1.58	0.12	-0.12 - 0.94
		CG Obligation	0.50	1.13	0.07	0.44	0.66	-1.80 - 2.79
	2	(Constant)	6.79	0.80		8.50	0.00	5.16 - 8.41
		CR Symptom Total	0.70	0.36	0.44	1.94	0.06	-0.03 - 1.43
		CG Obligation	0.41	1.13	0.06	0.36	0.72	-1.89 - 2.70
		Interaction CRSym*CGObl	-0.60	0.52	-0.26	-1.15	0.26	-1.65 - 0.46
Caregiver	1	(Constant)	7.51	1.31		5.72	0.00	4.85 - 10.12
Depression		CR Symptom Total	0.77	0.43	0.28	1.80	0.08	-0.10 - 1.64
(CESD-10)		CG Obligation	4.19	1.86	0.35	2.26	0.03	0.42 - 7.95
	2	(Constant)	7.56	1.33		5.68	0.00	4.86 - 10.26
		CR Symptom Total	0.56	0.60	0.20	0.93	0.36	-0.66 - 1.78
		CG Obligation	4.25	1.88	0.35	2.26	0.03	0.44 - 8.07
		Interaction CRSym*CGObl	0.44	0.87	0.11	0.50	0.62	-1.32 - 2.19

# **APPENDIX C: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP MANUAL**
Caregiver Support Group Experimental Intervention: Session Outlines

- 1. Meeting 1 Introduction
  - a. Intake paperwork
    - i. Consent for Services
    - ii. Release of Information (if applicable)
    - iii. Personal Health Information Notice
    - iv. Intake Assessment Survey Packet
  - b. Caregivers introduce themselves to begin to foster group rapport
    - i. First names
    - ii. Who is their care recipient, and what are their main problems
    - iii. Hobbies/what they do for fun, and the last time they did something fun
  - c. Overview of group goals and guidelines
    - i. Individual preferences for aging-in-place and LTC utilization
    - ii. Social need for informal caregiving
    - iii. Preventing or postponing the transition to long-term care
    - iv. Caregiver self-care, burden, depression, neglect, burnout, and caregiving ruptures VS appropriate, compassionate utilization of professional services
       v. Informal Support Groups VS Caregiver Interventions
  - d. Therapists give overview of Alzheimer's disease/dementia and caregiver burden.

#### \*\*\*This may require modification based on group members' needs

- i. Cognitive Symptoms
  - 1. Forgetfulness
  - 2. Verbal difficulties
- ii. Psychiatric Symptoms
  - 1. Sleep disturbances
  - 2. Agitation (physical or verbal outbursts, distress, restlessness, pacing, yelling)
  - 3. Delusions firmly held beliefs in things that are not real
  - 4. Hallucinations seeing or hearing things that are not there
- iii. Neuropsychiatric symptoms associated with Alzheimer's disease

#### 1. Explain that they, like memory loss, are symptoms of the disease

#### e. The Intervention

- i. Concept #1: Our behaviors affect our feelings about ourselves and those around us.
  - 1. If we do fun things with a friend, we may feel closer to that person.
  - 2. Enjoyable hobbies help us to break up difficult or monotonous times of our life. People who don't take breaks from difficult things like work or caregiving feel sad, feel more depressed, feel more anxious, and burn out much faster.
  - 3. Describe the importance of pleasant activities, behavioral activation, and self-care.
  - 4. Describe the importance of increasing pleasant activities as one method for improving care recipients' behavior the caregiver–care recipient relationship.

- ii. Concept #2: We can change other people's behaviors by changing the way we react to them.
  - 1. Pick a behavior any behavior. That behavior can probably be made more frequent or less frequent through reward or punishment, respectively.
  - 2. Positive rewards can work very effectively to increase the frequency of a positive behavior.
  - 3. We want to identify undesirable/problem/difficult behaviors (Targets) and interact with our care recipients in ways that increase positive behaviors.
  - 4. First, we have to pick some behaviors to change. Some examples include:
    - a. Arguing
    - b. Wandering
    - c. Nutritional Rejection
    - d. Sundowning
- iii. Concept #3: Awareness and utilization of resources to assist navigating through this difficult process.
  - 1. Briefly mention ADRC coming to next meeting to provide valuable resources.
- f. Therapists present:
  - i. Pleasant Events Activity List
  - ii. Pleasant Activity Log.
- g. Caregiver Homework:
  - i. Record daily pleasant activities
  - ii. Generate three ideas for future pleasant events
- 2. Meeting 2 ADRC Meeting
  - a. Review Homework
    - i. Elicit group members to share pleasant activities they engaged in.
    - ii. Clarify homework where necessary. Often people simply identify pleasant events they were already planning, or identifying normal day-to-day experiences (making tea in the morning) as a pleasant event.
    - iii. Identify the target behaviors. Clarify conceptual misunderstandings.
    - iv. Provide a second Pleasant Activity Log and a Target Behavior Log for this week's homework.
  - b. Introduce Alzheimer's and Dementia Resource Center (ADRC) Representative
    - i. Describe the ADRC
      - 1. Commitment to promoting informal caregiving
      - 2. Describe their goals regarding putting caregivers in contact with community resources, such as attorneys specializing in aging issues (guardianship and conservatorship), regional caregiver support care groups, professional and paraprofessionals specializing in facilitating in-home care, etc.
    - ii. Present the individual and his/her qualifications

- c. ADRC representative will:
  - i. Discuss further their niche in facilitating informal caregiving
  - ii. Discuss the challenges of working with the caregiving system
  - iii. Distribute contact information and other relevant materials describing various resources to the group
  - iv. Address questions raised by group members
- d. Review Caregiver homework:
  - i. Schedule, complete, and log pleasant events
  - ii. Track number of target behavior events this week
- 3. Meeting 3 Increasing Pleasant Events and Improving Communication
  - a. Review homework:
    - i. What types of activities did they do? How many activities did they count?
      - 1. How did they feel about it this time?
      - Discuss the importance of engaging in pleasant events as a method for improving care recipients' behavior; Behavioral Activation; Accomplishment
    - ii. Review selected target behaviors
      - 1. Discuss frequency of target behaviors
      - 2. Did they notice anything about what came before or after the target behaviors?
  - b. Introduce Fundamentals of Behavior Management
    - i. Talk about ABC's
      - 1. Antecedent: What events happen before the behavior.
      - 2. Behavior: Describe (which we've done already).
      - 3. Consequences: What happens after the behavior.
    - ii. Illustrate this with an example from the group
      - 1. What happens before the behavior?
      - 2. What happens after the behavior?
        - a. Now, why is this behavior persisting?
    - iii. Introduce behavioral management theory: they teach how to identify and define problem behaviors, and their antecedents, and consequences.
      - 1. When we know the antecedent (what prompts the behavior), and the consequence (what reinforces the behavior), then we can figure out how to how we interact with our family members to improve relationships and reduce distress.
        - a. Antecedents Raise the following questions:
          - i. How does our family member experience the antecedent?
          - ii. Can the antecedent be prevented altogether?
          - iii. Can we revise how the family member experiences the antecedent?
        - b. Behavior What is the goal of the behavior?i. What are they trying to accomplish?
        - c. Consequence How is our behavior reinforcing the target

behavior?

- i. Types of reinforcement:
  - 1. Attention
    - 2. Getting something accomplished
  - 3. Experiencing a feeling of support
  - 4. Transferring personal responsibilities to others
  - 5. Feeling of freedom to... eat as they wish, go out, etc.
- 2. These skills are used by managers, day care workers, and nursing home personnel alike.
- 3. ALL PEOPLE RESPOND THE SAME WAY, even you.
- iv. Caregiver Homework:
  - 1. Engage in one pleasant activity daily
  - 2. Identify and record care recipient target behaviors, when they occur, why they are upsetting, and how they have to be changed
- 4. Meeting 4 Increasing Pleasant Events and Understanding Behavior
  - a. Review homework
  - b. Pleasant Events
    - i. Discuss strategies for increasing pleasant events
    - ii. Problem-solve around difficulties that may have occurred as caregivers attempted to engage in pleasant activities.
  - c. ABC's:
    - i. Provide and review the ABC Form.
    - ii. Evaluate understanding of ABC model
    - iii. Go from person to person, each providing a recent example
    - iv. Answer questions and address misunderstandings of the model
  - d. Discuss strategies to improve communication.
  - e. Discuss Goal Setting
    - i. Could frequency of the target behavior be reduced?
    - ii. What behaviors might replace the target behavior?
  - f. Basic Strategies for Changing Relationships
    - i. Preemptively meet family member's need for food, water, socialization, toileting, sleep
    - ii. Engage family member positively at non-distressed times
    - iii. Redirect toward pleasurable activities (e.g., listening to music, playing a game, life-review)
    - iv. Give complements, especially if target behaviors are replaced by a preferable behavior.
      - → The goal of these strategies is to **reduce distress**.
  - g. Caregiver Homework:
    - i. Engage in one new pleasant activity daily
    - ii. Compliment the individual with dementia at least one time every day

- 5. Meeting 5 Understanding and Changing Difficult Behaviors  $\frac{1}{3EP}$ 
  - a. Review:
    - i. Homework
    - ii. Definition of target behaviors, their antecedents, and consequences
  - b. Present the ABC behavioral chain and continue teaching behavior modification techniques.
  - c. Help caregivers practice goal setting and employ methods for changing problem behaviors in the home.
  - d. Caregiver Homework:
    - i. Add one more pleasant event every day
    - ii. Choose one target behavior and attempt to modify it on the basis of the presented and practiced strategies
- 6. Meeting 6 Final Review: Where Do We Go From Here?
  - a. Review:
    - i. Homework
    - ii. Lessons on understanding behavior
    - iii. ABCs of behavior
    - iv. Behavior modification techniques
  - b. Problem-solve difficulties caregivers had in modifying behaviors at home, and provide guidance on how to continue using these new skills in the future.
  - c. Discuss and explore thoughts about and plans for the future.
  - d. Recognize group members for the completion of the group, their contributions, personal growth, challenges, and willingness to participate and share.

### APPENDIX D: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP INTAKE PACKET

Participant Name:

# **Caregiver Support Group Intake Survey**

**OLDeR** Lab

**University of Central Florida** 

January	<u>Feb</u>	<u>ruary</u>	Ma	<u>rch</u>	<u>April</u>	<u>N</u>	<u>lay</u>	<u>Jun</u>	e	July	<u>v</u>	Augus	<u>st</u>	Septer	<u>nber</u>	<u>Oct</u>	<u>ober</u>	No	ovembo	er I	December
0	(	0	C	)	0		0	0		0		0		С	)	(	)		0		0
How ta	all ar	e yo	<b>5</b> '2"	Bubb	<b>ble o</b>	nly or	<b>1e)</b>	5'7"	' 5'	8"	5'9"	5'1(	<u>)''</u>	5'11"	6'0"	6'1	' 6'	2"	6'3"	6'4"	>6'5"
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	(	о С	0	0	)	0	0	01	(	- C	0	0	0
What i A B	is the C D	FII E	RST F	LET G H	TER I I	kofy JK	our A	<i>иот</i> М	T <b>HE</b> N	ER' 0	<b>S F</b> P	IRS' Q	TN RS	ame S T	? ' U	V	W	X	Y	Z	
A B	СС	) E	F	GH	ΙI	JK	L	М	N	0	Р	Q	R	SΤ	U	V	W	Х	Y	Ζ	
What i	is the	FI	RST	LET	TER	k of ye	our I	FAT	HE	'R'S	S FI	RST	ſ Na	me	?						
A B	CD	) E	F	GH	ΙΙ	JK	L	Μ	N	0	Р	Q	R S	S T	U	V	W	Х	Y	Ζ	
With w	vhom	n do	you	live?	(Bu	bble (	all th	nat a	ppl	y)											
Roomm	ate(s)		Al	one		Paren	t(s)		Si O	gnif ther	ïcant		Oth	er							

## What is your birth month? (Bubble only one)

## How many hours do you typically work at a job, PER WEEK?

Ο

Ο

0

0	5-10	11-20	21-30	31-40	More than 40
0	0	0	0	0	0

Ο

0

# What is your *FATHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your MOTHER'S highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

#### What is your current relationship status?

Single, Never Married	Long-term Relationship (Unmarried)	Married or Domestic Partnership	Separated	Divorced	Widowed
0	0	0	0	0	0

### What is the first letter of the high school you graduated from?

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X Y Z

## Where does your care recipient reside?

- o in your home
- o in his/her own home
- o in other family member's home
- o nursing home
- o assisted living facility

o hospital

o other (please specify):

#### Is your care recipient receiving hospice?

- o Yes
- o No

#### Does your care recipient suffer from cognitive impairment?

- o Yes
- o No

#### Demographic Survey



#### CARE RECIPIENTS

 Sex (please circle one): Male

Female

Age (in years): \_

# 3. Ethnicity (please check all that

- African-American/
- Black
- American Indian/Native Alaskan
- Asian/Southeast
- Asian/Asian-American
- Caucasian/European/White e. Native
- Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander
- f. Latino(a)/ Hispanic

#### 4. Highest Level of Education Completed:

- a. \_\_\_\_ Less than 8th grade
- b. 8th to 11th grade
- c\_\_\_\_12<sup>th</sup> grade
- Some college
- e. \_\_\_\_ Associates degree
- f. Bachelor's degree
- g. Graduate de pree

#### 6. What was his/her total household income before taxes during the past 12 months?

- a. Less than \$20,000 b. \_\_\_\_\_\$20,000 to \$39,999
  - c\_\_\_\_\_\$40,000 to \$64,999 d. \$65,000 to \$104,999
  - \$105,000 or more
- 6. Do he/she live with a spouse or other long-time partner? (please

#### YES NO

Caregiver's relationship to care recipient:		
Have you ever participated in this support group before?	YES	NO

# ADL and IADL Survey

For each statement, please indicate only one answer.

How much difficulty does your care recipient experience . . .

	No difficulty					Extreme Difficulty
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Walking across a room?						
Getting in and out of bed?						
Dressing?						
Bathing?						
Eating?						
Using the telephone?						
Taking medication?						
Handling money?						

# The Preparedness for Caregiving Scale

	Not at all prepared	Not too well prepared	Somewhat well prepared	Pretty well prepared	Very well propared
I. How well prepared do you think you are to take care of your family member's physical needs?	0	1	2	з	4
2. How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?	0	12	2:	<b>3</b> 1	34
3. How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?	0		2	3	ų.
I. How well prepared do you think you are for the stress of caregiving?	0	10	2	3	34
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to make caregiving activities pleasant for both you and your family member?</li> </ol>	0	12	2	3	ų
3. How well prepared do you think you are to respond to and handle emergencies that involve him or her?	0	10	2	3	34
7. How well prepared do you think you are to get the help and information you need from the health care system?	0		2	3	4
<ol> <li>Overall, how well prepared do you think you are to care for your family member?</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	34

Exprising with groutesian hors, even a

Slowest S.Archeold (1986, 1994)

#### Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CESID 10)

Below is a list of some of the ways you may have felt or behaved. Please indicate how often you have felt this way during the past week by checking the appropriate box for each question.

Items:	Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)	Some or a little of the time (1 <sup>†</sup> 2 days)	Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3 <sup>T</sup> 4 days)	All of the time (5T7 days)
<ol> <li>I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.</li> </ol>				
<ol> <li>I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing</li> </ol>				
3. I felt depressed.				
<ol> <li>I felt that everything I did was an effort.</li> </ol>				
5. I felt hopeful about the future.				
6. I felt fearful.				
7. My sleep was restless.				
8. I was happy.				
9. I felt lonely.				
10. I could not "get going."				

# **Obligation Scale**

Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements about your relationship with your care recipient. A "1" means that you strongly disagree. A "5" means that you strongly agree. Or you can indicate any number between "1" and "5" to show the extent to which you agree or disagree.

	Strongly disag	gree		Strongly agree			
1. I feel a sense of obligation to help.	1	2	3	4	5		
2. It's a child's duty to help.	1	2	3	4	5		
3. I feel that I should do my part in helpin	g. 1	2	3	4	5		
4. I'm the one in the family who should h	elp. <b>1</b>	2	3	4	5		
5. I was raised to believe I should help.	1	2	3	4	5		
6. I would feel guilty if I didn't help.	1	2	3	4	5		
7. I would feel ashamed if I didn't help.	1	2	3	4	5		

Score \_\_\_\_\_

# Caregiver Strain Index

	Yes=1	No=0
Sleep is disturbed (e.g., becauseis in and out of bed or wanders around at night)		
It is inconvenient (e.g., because helping takes so much time or it's a long drive over to help)		
It is a physical strain (e.g., because of lifting in and out of a chair; effort or concentration is required)		
It is confining (e.g., helping restricts free time or cannot go visiting)		
There have been family adjustments (e.g., because helping has disrupted routine; there has been no privacy)		
There have been changes in personal plans (e.g., had to turn down a job; could not go on vacation)		
There have been other demands on my time (e.g., from other family members)		
There have been emotional adjustments (e.g., because of severe arguments)		
Some behavior is upsetting (e.g., because of incontinence; has trouble remembering things; oraccuses people of taking things)		
It is upsetting to find has changed so much from his/her former self (e.g., he/she is a different person than he/she used to be)		
There have been work adjustments (e.g., because of having to take time off)		
It is a financial strain		
Feeling completely overwhelmed (e.g., because of worry about; concerns about how you will manage)		
<b>TOTAL SCORE</b> (Count yes responses. Any positive answer may indicate a need for intervention in that area. A score of 7 or higher indicates a high level of stress.)		

#### The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q)

Please answer the following questions based on changes that have occurred since the patient first began to experience memory problems.

Circle "Yes" only if the symptom(s) has been present <u>in the last month</u>. Otherwise, circle "No". For each item marked "Yes":

#### a) Rate the SEVERITY of the symptom (how it affects <u>the patient</u>):

**1 = Mild** (noticeable, but not a significant change)

**2 = Moderate** (significant, but not a dramatic change)

**3 = Severe** (very marked or prominent, a dramatic change)

#### b) Rate the DISTRESS you experience due to that symptom (how it affects <u>you</u>):

- 0 = Not distressing at all
- **1 = Minimal** (slightly distressing, not a problem to cope with)
- **2** = Mild (not very distressing, generally easy to cope with)
- **3 = Moderate** (fairly distressing, not always easy to cope with)
- **4 = Severe** (very distressing, difficult to cope with)
- **5 = Extreme or Very Severe** (extremely distressing, unable to cope with)

Please answer each question carefully. Ask for assistance if you have any questions.

Delus	ions		Does the patient have false beliefs, such as thinking that others are stealing from him/her or planning to harm him/her in some way?										
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Hallu	cinations		Does to voices preser	the p ? Do nt?	oatier oes h	nt have ne or sh	hallucinations he seem to hear	suc or s	h as ee th	false	visi that	ons are	or not
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Agita	tion/Aggression	n	Is the handle	patie ?	ent re	esistive	e to help from c	other	s at 1	time	s, or	harc	l to
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Depro	ession/Dysphor	ia	Does	the p	oatier	nt seem	n sad or say tha	t he	/she	is de	epres	ssed	?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5

Anxio	ety		Does the he/she breath,	he p hav , sig	atien e any hing,	nt beco y other , being	me upset when signs of nervo unable to relay	sepa usne x, or	arate ss su feeli	d fro ich a ng e	om y is she xces	ou? ortne sive	Does ess of ly tense?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Elatio	on/Euphoria		Does the	he p	atien	nt appe	ar to feel too g	ood o	or ac	t exc	cessi	vely	happy?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Apat	hy/Indifference		Does the state of	he p activ	atien vities	t seem and pl	less interested lans of others?	in h	is/he	er us	ual a	ctivi	ties or
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Disin	hibition		Does to strange people	the p ers a 's fe	patie s if l eling	nt seen he/she gs?	n to act impuls knows them, o	ively r say	, for ing	exa thing	mple gs th	e, tal at m	king to ay hurt
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Irrita	bility/Lability		Is the p coping	oatie wit	ent in h del	npatier lays or	nt and cranky? waiting for pla	Does	s he/s 1 act	she l iviti	nave es?	diffi	culty
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Moto	r Disturbance		Does the around things	he p l the repe	atien hou ated	nt enga se, han ly?	ge in repetitive Idling buttons,	acti wrap	vitie ping	s suc ; stri	ch as ng, c	paci or do	ing ing other
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
Night	time Behaviors		Does the morning t	he p 1g, c	atien or tak	nt awak te exce	ten you during ssive naps duri	the r ng tł	night ne da	, rise vy?	e too	earl	y in the
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Appe	tite/Eating		Has the of food	e pa 1 he/	tient /she ]	lost or likes?	gained weight	, or l	nad a	a cha	inge	in th	e type
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
	Develo	ped by D	aniel Ka	ufer,	MD.	Final V	ersion 6/99. © JL	Cum	nings	, 199	4; all	right	s reserved

### APPENDIX E: CAREGIVER SUPPORT GROUP EXIT PACKET

Participant Name:

# **Caregiver Support Group Exit Survey**

**OLDeR** Lab

**University of Central Florida** 

January	<u>Feb</u>	<u>ruary</u>	Mar	<u>ch</u>	<u>April</u>	<u>M</u>	ay	<u>June</u>	<u>Ju</u>	l <u>ly</u>	<u>August</u>	<u>Septen</u>	<u>ıber</u>	Octob	er <u>N</u>	lovemb	<u>er I</u>	<u>ecember</u>
0		0	0	1	0	C	)	0	C	)	0	0		0		0		0
How t	all ar	e yo	u? (I	Bubb	ole on	ly on	e)											
≤4'11"	5'0"	5'1"	5'2"	5'3"	5'4"	5'5"	5'6"	5'7"	5'8"	5'9"	5'10"	5'11"	6'0"	6'1"	6'2"	6'3"	6'4"	≥6'5"
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### What is your birth month? (Bubble only one)

## How many full BIOLOGICAL SIBLINGS do you have? (not step or half)

0 1 2 3 4 5 (or more)

## What is the FIRST LETTER of your *MOTHER'S* FIRST Name?

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X Y Z

# What is the FIRST LETTER of your *FATHER'S* FIRST Name? A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X Y Z

## With whom do you live? (Bubble *all that apply*)

Roommate(s)	Alone	Parent(s)	Significant Other	Other
0	0	0	0	0

### How many hours do you typically work at a job, PER WEEK?

0	5-10	11-20	21-30	31-40	More than 40
0	0	0	0	0	0

### What is your *FATHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your *MOTHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

## What is your current relationship status?

Single, Never Married	Long-term Relationship (Unmarried)	Married or Domestic Partnership	Separated	Divorced	Widowed
0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is the first letter of the high school you graduated from?

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q	R	S T	ΓU	V W	XYZ
-----------------------------------	---	-----	----	-----	-----

## Since you began the caregiver support group, has your care recipient changed residences?

- o Yes
- o No

### If yes, where does your care recipient currently reside?

- $\circ$  in your home
- $\circ$  in his/her own home
- $\circ$  in other family member's home
- $\circ$  nursing home
- o assisted living facility
- $\circ$  hospital

#### Is your care recipient receiving hospice?

- o Yes
- o No

	Not at all prepared	Not too well prepared	Somewhat well prepared	Preity well prepared	Very well prepared
How well prepared do you think you are to take care of your family member's physical needs?	0	1	2	З	4
How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?	0	13	2	а.	3
How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?	0		2	3	4
How well prepared do you think you are for the stress of caregiving?	0	1	2	3	54
How well prepared do you think you are to make caregiving activities pleasant for both you and your family member?	0	1	2	3	ł
How well prepared do you think you are to respond to and handle emergencies that involve him or her?	<b>0</b> :	1	2	3	34
How well prepared do you think you are to get the help and information you need from the health care system?	0	1	2	3	4
Overall, how well prepared do you think you are to care for your family member?	0	1	2	3	34

Exploring with groutestan hors, estimat

Slovent @Archeold (1996, 1994)

#### Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CES-D 10)

Below is a list of some of the ways you may have felt or behaved. Please indicate how often you have felt this way during the past week by checking the appropriate box for each question.

Items:	Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)	Some or a little of the time (1 <sup>†</sup> 2 days)	Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3 <sup>T</sup> 4 days)	All of the time (5T7 days)
<ol> <li>I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.</li> </ol>				
<ol> <li>I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing</li> </ol>				
3. I felt depressed.				
<ol> <li>I felt that everything I did was an effort.</li> </ol>				
5. I felt hopeful about the future.				
6. I felt fearful.				
7. My sleep was restless.				
8. I was happy.				
9. I felt lonely.				
10. I could not "get going."				

# Caregiver Strain Index

	Yes=1	No=0
Sleep is disturbed (e.g., becauseis in and out of bed or wanders around at night)		
It is inconvenient (e.g., because helping takes so much time or it's a long drive over to help)		
It is a physical strain (e.g., because of lifting in and out of a chair; effort or concentration is required)		
It is confining (e.g., helping restricts free time or cannot go visiting)		
There have been family adjustments (e.g., because helping has disrupted routine; there has been no privacy)		
There have been changes in personal plans (e.g., had to turn down a job; could not go on vacation)		
There have been other demands on my time (e.g., from other family members)		
There have been emotional adjustments (e.g., because of severe arguments)		
Some behavior is upsetting (e.g., because of incontinence; has trouble remembering things; oraccuses people of taking things)		
It is upsetting to find has changed so much from his/her former self (e.g., he/she is a different person than he/she used to be)		
There have been work adjustments (e.g., because of having to take time off)		
It is a financial strain		
Feeling completely overwhelmed (e.g., because of worry about; concerns about how you will manage)		
<b>TOTAL SCORE</b> (Count yes responses. Any positive answer may indicate a need for intervention in that area. A score of 7 or higher indicates a high level of stress.)		

#### The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q)

Please answer the following questions based on changes that have occurred since the patient first began to experience memory problems.

Circle "Yes" only if the symptom(s) has been present <u>in the last month</u>. Otherwise, circle "No". For each item marked "Yes":

#### a) Rate the SEVERITY of the symptom (how it affects <u>the patient</u>):

**1 = Mild** (noticeable, but not a significant change)

**2 = Moderate** (significant, but not a dramatic change)

**3 = Severe** (very marked or prominent, a dramatic change)

#### b) Rate the DISTRESS you experience due to that symptom (how it affects <u>vou</u>):

- 0 = Not distressing at all
- **1 = Minimal** (slightly distressing, not a problem to cope with)
- **2** = Mild (not very distressing, generally easy to cope with)
- **3 = Moderate** (fairly distressing, not always easy to cope with)
- **4 = Severe** (very distressing, difficult to cope with)
- **5 = Extreme or Very Severe** (extremely distressing, unable to cope with)

Please answer each question carefully. Ask for assistance if you have any questions.

Delus	ions		Does t stealin	he p g fro	oatier om h	nt have im/he	e false beliefs, s r or planning to	uch harı	as th n hi	ninki m/he	ng tł er in	nat o som	thers are e way?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Hallu	cinations		Does t voices presen	he p ? Do t?	oatier oes h	nt have ne or sl	e hallucinations he seem to hear	sucl or s	h as ee th	false	visi that	ons are	or not
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Agita	tion/Aggression	1	Is the phandle	patie ?	ent re	esistive	e to help from c	other	s at 1	time	s, or	hard	l to
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Depre	ession/Dysphor	ia	Does t	he p	atier	nt seen	n sad or say tha	t he	/she	is de	epres	ssed	?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5

Anxio	Anxiety			Does the patient become upset when separated from you? Does he/she have any other signs of nervousness such as shortness of breath, sighing, being unable to relax, or feeling excessively tense?									
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Elatio	on/Euphoria		Does t	he p	atier	nt appe	ear to feel too g	ood	or ac	et exc	cessi	ively	happy?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Apat	hy/Indifference		Does t in the	he p activ	atier vities	nt seer s and p	n less interested blans of others?	l in l	nis/h	er us	ual a	activ	ities or
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Disin	hibition		Does strange people	the j ers a s's fe	patie is if l celing	nt see he/she gs?	m to act impuls knows them, c	ively or say	y, foi ying	exa thing	mplo gs th	e, tal at m	king to ay hurt
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Irrita	bility/Lability		Is the provide the second seco	patie wit	ent ir h de	npatie lays o	nt and cranky? r waiting for pla	Doe anne	s he/ d act	she l iviti	have es?	diff	iculty
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Moto	r Disturbance		Does t around things	he p l the repe	atier hou eated	nt enga se, ha lly?	age in repetitive ndling buttons,	e acti wrag	vitie oping	s suo g stri	ch as ng, o	s pac or do	ing oing other
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Night	ttime Behaviors		Does t mornii	he p ng, c	oatier or tak	nt awa ke exc	ken you during essive naps dur	the i ing t	night he da	t, rise ay?	e toc	o earl	y in the
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Appe	tite/Eating		Has th of food	e pa d he	tient /she	lost o likes?	r gained weigh	t, or	had	a cha	ange	in th	ne type
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5

Developed by Daniel Kaufer, MD. Final Version 6/99. © JL Cummings, 1994; all rights reserv

### Caregiver Support Group Satisfaction Survey

#### Please read each of the statements below and select the most appropriate answer.

	Disagree 1	Slightly Disagree 2	Slightly Agree 3	Agnes 4
1. The information provided was informative	1	2	3	4
2. The language used was easy to understand.	1	2	8 <b>B</b> (1	4
3. I will use the information learned in this support group.	1	2	3	4
4. I feel less burden as a caregiver than I did before the support group began.	1	2	3	4
5. I feel more prepared to provide care as a result of this support group.		2	3	4
6. The length of the program was appropriate.	1	2	3	4
7. I would recommend this program to other caregivers.	1	2	3	4

What did you find most beneficial during the support group?

What aspects of the group could use improvement?

Are there any topics of discussion you feel we should cover in the group that were not covered?

Number of Sessions Attended

### APPENDIX F: CONTROL GROUP INTAKE PACKET

# **Caregiver Support Group Intake Survey**

**OLDeR** Lab

**University of Central Florida** 

<u>January</u>	<u>Febr</u>	<u>uary</u>	Ma	<u>rch</u>	<u>April</u>	<u>M</u>	[ <u>ay</u>	<u>June</u>	Ju	<u>ly</u>	August	Sep	<u>tember</u>	<u>Octo</u>	<u>ber</u>	Novemł	<u>oer</u>	December
0	(	C	C	)	0	(	C	0	C	)	0		0	С	)	0		0
How ta	ll ar	e vo	ou? ()	Bubb	ole or	nlv or	ie)											
<u>≤</u> 4'11"	5'0"	5'1"	5'2"	5'3"	5'4"	5'5"	5'6"	5'7"	5'8"	5'9"	5'10	' 5'11	" 6'0	" 6'1'	6'2"	6'3"	6'4''	≥6'5"
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	С	C	0	0	0	0	0
What is A B (	s the C D	FII E	<b>RST</b> F	LET G H	TER H I	ofyc JK	our A L	<i>ИОТ</i> М ]	<i>her</i> N O	<b>'S F</b> P	<b>IRS</b> T Q I	<b>Nan</b> S	ne? TU	V	W	ХҮ	Z	
What i	c tho	FII	26т	І ГТ	TFR	ofvo	ur J	FATI	YFR,	C FI	ID ST	Nam	o?					
A B (	C D	E	F	G H	ΙĽΝ	JK	L	M ]	N O	P	QE	R S	T U	V	W	ΧY	Z	
With w	hom	do	you	live?	(Bu	bble <i>d</i>	all th	at ap	oply)									
Roomma	ate(s)		Al	one		Parent	t(s)		Signi Othe	fican <sup>.</sup> r	t	Other						
0				0		0			(	С		0						

## What is your birth month? (Bubble only one)

# How many hours do you typically work at a job, PER WEEK?

0	5-10	11-20	21-30	31-40	More than 40
0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your *FATHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your *MOTHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### What is your current relationship status?

Single, Never Married	Long-term Relationship (Unmarried)	Married or Domestic Partnership	Separated	Divorced	Widowed
0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is the first letter of the high school you graduated from?

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X Y Z

### Since you began the caregiver support group, has your care recipient changed residences?

- o Yes
- o No

## If yes, where does your care recipient currently reside?

- $\circ$  in your home
- $\circ$  in his/her own home
- o in other family member's home
- $\circ$  nursing home
- assisted living facility
- o hospital
- o other (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_\_

#### Is your care recipient receiving hospice?

- Yes
- o No

#### Demographic Survey

#### CAREGIVERS

- Sex (please circle one): Male
  - Female
- 2. Age (in years): \_\_\_\_
- Ethnicity (please check all that apply):
  - a. \_\_\_\_\_ African-American/
  - Black
  - b. \_\_\_\_\_ American Indian/Native Ataskan
  - c. \_\_\_\_ Asian/Southeast
  - Asian/Asian-American
  - Cancasian/European/White e. Native
  - Hawaiian/Other Pacific Istander
  - f. Latino(a) Hispanic

#### 4. Highest Level of Education

#### Completed:

- a. \_\_\_\_ Less than 8th grade
- b. \_\_\_\_\_ 8<sup>th</sup> to 11<sup>th</sup> grade
- c. 12ª grade
- d. \_\_\_\_Some college
- e. \_\_\_\_ A ssociates de gree
- f. \_\_\_\_Bachelor's degree
- g. Graduate degree

#### What was your total household income before taxes during the past 12 months?

- a. Less than \$20,000
- b. \$20,000 to \$39,999
- c. \_\_\_\_\_\$40,000 to \$64,999
- d. \$65,000 to \$104,999
- e. \_\_\_\_\$105,000 or more

#### Do you live with a spouse or other long-time partner? (please circle one)

YES NO

#### CARE RECIPIENTS

8

 Sex (please circle one): Male

Female

- 2. Age (in years):
- Ethnicity (please check all that apply):
  - African-American/
  - Black b. American
  - Indian/Native Alaskan
  - c\_\_\_\_\_Asian/Southeast
  - Asian/Asian-American d
  - Caucasian/European/White
  - Hawaiian/Other Pacific Islander
  - f. Latino(a)/ Hispanic

#### 4. Highest Level of Education

#### Completed:

- a. \_\_\_\_ Less than 8th grade
- b. \_\_\_\_\_8th to 11th grade
- c\_\_\_\_\_12<sup>th</sup> grade
- d. Some college
- e. Associates degree
- f. \_\_\_\_Bachelor's degree
- g. Graduate de gree

#### 5. What was his/her total household income before taxes during the past 12 months?

- a. Less than \$20,000
- b. \$20,000 to \$39,999
- c\_\_\_\_\_\$40,000 to \$64,999
- d. \$65,000 to \$104,999
- e.\_\_\_\_\_\$105,000 or more
- Do he/she live with a spouse or other long-time partner? (please circle one)

YES NO

#### Caregiver's relationship to care recipient:

Have you ever participated in this support group before? YES NO

## ADL and IADL Survey

For each statement, please indicate only one answer.

How much difficulty does your care recipient experience . . .

	No difficulty					Extreme Difficulty
	0	1	2	3	4	5
Walking across a room?						
Getting in and out of bed?						
Dressing?						
Bathing?						
Eating?						
Using the telephone?						
Taking medication?						
Handling money?						

# The Preparedness for Caregiving Scale

1. How well prepared do you think you are to take care of your family member's physical needs?       0         2. How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?       0         3. How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?       0	1	2	3	74
How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?     0     O     How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?     0	1			<u></u>
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?</li> </ol>		23	3	<u>i</u> #
		2	3	4
4. How well prepared do you think you are for the stress of caregiving?	1	2	3	34
5. How well prepared do you think you are to make caregiving activities pleasant for both you and your family member? 0	5 in 12 5 in	2	3	4
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to respond to and handle emergencies that involve him or her?</li> </ol>	10	2	3	5 <b>4</b>
7. How well prepared do you think you are to get the help and information you need from the health care system? 0	10 10 200	2	3	4
8. Overall, how well prepared do you think you are to care for your family member? 0	10	2	3	34

Explaining the procession from reduct

Classest @Archdol# (1986, 1884)

## Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CES<sup>®</sup>D 10)

Below is a list of some of the ways you may have felt or behaved. Please indicate how often you have felt this way during the past week by checking the appropriate box for each question.

Items:	Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)	Some or a little of the time (1T2 days)	Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3T4 days)	<b>All of the time</b> (5 <sup>¶</sup> 7 days)
<ol> <li>I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.</li> </ol>				
<ol> <li>I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing</li> </ol>				
3. I felt depressed.				
<ol> <li>I felt that everything I did was an effort.</li> </ol>				
5. I felt hopeful about the future.				
6. I felt fearful.				
7. My sleep was restless.				
8. I was happy.				
9. I felt lonely.				
10. I could not "get going."				

# **Obligation Scale**

Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each of the following statements about your relationship with your care recipient. A "1" means that you strongly disagree. A "5" means that you strongly agree. Or you can indicate any number between "1" and "5" to show the extent to which you agree or disagree.

Stro	ngly disag	gree		Strongly agree		
1. I feel a sense of obligation to help.	1	2	3	4	5	
2. It's a child's duty to help.	1	2	3	4	5	
3. I feel that I should do my part in helping.	1	2	3	4	5	
4. I'm the one in the family who should help.	1	2	3	4	5	
5. I was raised to believe I should help.	1	2	3	4	5	
6. I would feel guilty if I didn't help.	1	2	3	4	5	
7. I would feel ashamed if I didn't help.	1	2	3	4	5	

Score \_\_\_\_\_
# **Caregiver Strain Index**

	Yes=1	No=0
Sleep is disturbed (e.g., because is in and out of bed or wanders around at night)		
It is inconvenient (e.g., because helping takes so much time or it's a long drive over to help)		
It is a physical strain (e.g., because of lifting in and out of a chair; effort or concentration is required)		
It is confining (e.g., helping restricts free time or cannot go visiting)		
There have been family adjustments (e.g., because helping has disrupted routine; there has been no privacy)		
There have been changes in personal plans (e.g., had to turn down a job; could not go on vacation)		
There have been other demands on my time (e.g., from other family members)		
There have been emotional adjustments (e.g., because of severe arguments)		
Some behavior is upsetting (e.g., because of incontinence; has trouble remembering things; oraccuses people of taking things)		
It is upsetting to find has changed so much from his/her former self (e.g., he/she is a different person than he/she used to be )		
There have been work adjustments (e.g., because of having to take time off)		
It is a financial strain		
Feeling completely overwhelmed (e.g., because of worry about ; concerns about how you will manage)		
<b>TOTAL SCORE</b> (Count yes responses. Any positive answer may indicate a need for intervention in that area. A score of 7 or higher indicates a high level of stress.)		

#### The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q)

Please answer the following questions based on changes that have occurred since the patient first began to experience memory problems.

Circle "Yes" only if the symptom(s) has been present <u>in the last month</u>. Otherwise, circle "No". For each item marked "Yes":

#### a) Rate the SEVERITY of the symptom (how it affects <u>the patient</u>):

**1 = Mild** (noticeable, but not a significant change)

**2 = Moderate** (significant, but not a dramatic change)

**3 = Severe** (very marked or prominent, a dramatic change)

#### b) Rate the DISTRESS you experience due to that symptom (how it affects <u>vou</u>):

- 0 = Not distressing at all
- **1 = Minimal** (slightly distressing, not a problem to cope with)
- **2 = Mild** (not very distressing, generally easy to cope with)
- **3 = Moderate** (fairly distressing, not always easy to cope with)
- **4 = Severe** (very distressing, difficult to cope with)
- **5 = Extreme or Very Severe** (extremely distressing, unable to cope with)

Please answer each question carefully. Ask for assistance if you have any questions.

Delus	ions	Does th from hi	e patie m/her	ent h or p	ave lann	false ing t	beliefs, such as o harm him/her i	thin n sc	king me v	that vay?	othe	ers ar	e stealing
Yes	No	SEVEI	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Hallu	cinations	Does th or she s	e patie eem to	ent h hea	ave ar or	hallu see 1	cinations such as hings that are no	s fal t pr	se vi esent	sion: t?	s or	voice	es? Does he
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
Agita	tion/Aggression	n Is the p	oatient	resi	stive	to h	elp from others a	ıt tiı	nes,	or ha	ard to	o har	ndle?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Depr	ession/Dysphor	ia	Does t	he p	oatiei	nt see	em sad or say tha	t he	/she	is d	epre	ssed	?
Yes	No	SEVE	RITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	

Anxie	ety	Does the patie he/she have an breath, sighin	ent b ny o g, be	ecor ther eing	ne ups signs c unable	et when separa of nervousness to relax, or fee	ted fi such eling	rom as s exce	you' horti essiv	? Do ness rely t	oes of tense	e?
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Elatio	on/Euphoria	Does the patie	ent a	ppea	r to fee	el too good or a	ict ex	ces	sivel	y ha	ppy?	2
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
Apatl the	ny/Indifference	Does the patie	ent se	eem	less in	terested in his/l	ner u	sual	activ	vitie	s or i	in
		activities and	plan	s of	others	?						
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Disin	hibition	Does the patie strangers as if people's feelin	ent s he/s ngs?	eem she k	to act anows t	impulsively, fo them, or saying	r exa g thin	umpl Igs tl	e, ta hat n	lking nay l	g to hurt	
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Irrita copin	<b>bility/Lability</b> g	Is the patient	impa · wai	atien iting	t and c	ranky? Does he	e/she ?	hav	e dif	ficu	lty	
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Moto	r Disturbance	Does the patie	ent e	ngag	ge in re	petitive activiti	es si	ich a	ıs pa	cing	arou	und
the		house, handlin repeatedly?	ng bi	uttor	ns, wra	pping string, or	doi	ng oʻ	ther	thing	gs	
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Night	time Behaviors	Does the patie morning, or ta	ent a ike e	wak	en you ssive n	during the nig aps during the	ht, ri day?	se to	oo ea	rly i	n the	e
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Appe	tite/Eating	Has the patier	nt los	st or	gained	l weight, or had	l a cl	nang	e in	the t	ype	of
1000		he/she likes?										
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5

Developed by Daniel Kaufer, MD. Final Version 6/99. © JL Cummings, 1994; all rights reserved.

### **APPENDIX G: CONTROL GROUP EXIT PACKET**

Participant Name:

# **Caregiver Support Group Exit Survey**

**OLDeR** Lab

**University of Central Florida** 

January	<u>v I</u>	Tebruary	<u> M</u> a	arch	A	<u>pril</u>	<u>M</u>	[ <u>ay</u>	<u>Ju</u>	<u>1e</u>	<u>Ju</u>	l <u>v</u>	Augu	ist	<u>Sep</u>	teml	<u>ber</u>	<u>Octo</u>	ber_	No	vembo	<u>er</u>	December
0		0		0		0	(	С	С	)	С	)	0			0		С	1		0		0
How t	all	are y	ou? (	(Bul	bble	e on	ly or	le)															
≤4'11"	5'0'	" 5'1"	5'2"	5'3	;"	5'4"	5'5"	5'6"	5'7	"	5'8"	5'9"	5'1	0"	5'11	"	6'0"	6'1''	6'2	2''	6'3"	6'4''	≥6'5"
0	0	0	0	С	)	0	0	0	0		0	0	C	)	С	)	0	0	С	)	0	0	0
0 1 What	$\frac{1}{2}$	3 4 bo FI	5 (o	r moi	те) ТТТ	'FD	ofw			TH	U YU	'U II 'C F		9 (1) 9 (1)	Nan	107 109	, 01	11411	)				
A B	C	D E	E F	G	Н	I	J K	L	M	N	0	P	Q	R	S	T	U	V	W	X	Y	Ζ	
What	is t	he FI	RST	' LE	TT	'ER	of yo	our I	FA1	H	ER',	S FI	<b>RS</b>	ΓN	lam	e?							
A B	С	DE	EF	G	Η	Ι	JK	L	Μ	N	0	Р	Q	R	S	Т	U	V	W	X	Y	Ζ	

## What is your birth month? (Bubble only one)

## With whom do you live? (Bubble *all that apply*)

Roommate(s)	Alone	Parent(s)	Significant Other	Other
0	0	0	0	0

## How many hours do you typically work at a job, PER WEEK?

0	5-10	11-20	21-30	31-40	More than 40
0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your *FATHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is your *MOTHER'S* highest level of education? (Please bubble ONE)

Less than High School	Some High School	High School Diploma/ GED	Some College	Associate's Degree (A.A. or A.S.)	Bachelor's Degree	Graduate Degree
0	0	0	0	0	0	0

#### What is your current relationship status?

Single, Never Married	Long-term Relationship (Unmarried)	Married or Domestic Partnership	Separated	Divorced	Widowed
0	0	0	0	0	0

## What is the first letter of the high school you graduated from?

## A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P Q R S T U V W X Y Z

### Since you began the caregiver support group, has your care recipient changed residences?

- o Yes
- o No

### If yes, where does your care recipient currently reside?

- $\circ$  in your home
- $\circ$  in his/her own home
- o in other family member's home
- $\circ$  nursing home
- assisted living facility
- o hospital
- o other (please specify): \_\_\_\_\_\_

### Is your care recipient receiving hospice?

- o Yes
- o No

	Not at all prepared.	Not too well prepared	Somewhat well prepared	Preity well prepared	Very well propuns
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to take care of your family member's physical needs?</li> </ol>	o	1	2	З	4
<ol><li>How well prepared do you think you are to take care of his or her emotional needs?</li></ol>	0	1	25	<b>B</b> .	÷4
<ol><li>How well prepared do you think you are to find out about and set up services for him or her?</li></ol>	0	1 1 1	2	3	4
4. How well prepared do you think you are for the stress of caregiving?	0	1	2	3	34
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to make caregiving activities pleasant for both you and your family member?</li> </ol>	0		2	3	4
6. How well prepared do you think you are to respond to and handle emergencies that involve him or her?	0	t,	2	3	34
<ol> <li>How well prepared do you think you are to get the help and information you need from the health care system?</li> </ol>	0	1	2	3	4
<ol> <li>Overall, how well prepared do you think you are to care for your family member?</li> </ol>	0	19	2	3	<b>34</b>
8. Overall, how well prepared do you think you are to care for your family member?	0 MEAN SCO	ן RE of the הט	2 mber of items	3 10swered: _	3 <b>4</b>

Explained with garantization from exitant

Clanest & Architel (1988, 1894)

#### Center for Epidemiologic Studies Short Depression Scale (CES-D 10)

Below is a list of some of the ways you may have felt or behaved. Please indicate how often you have felt this way during the past week by checking the appropriate box for each question.

Items:	Rarely or none of the time (less than 1 day)	Some or a little of the time (1T2 days)	Occasionally or a moderate amount of time (3T4 days)	All of the time (5 <sup>®</sup> 7 days)
<ol> <li>I was bothered by things that usually don't bother me.</li> </ol>				
<ol> <li>I had trouble keeping my mind on what I was doing</li> </ol>				
3. I felt depressed.				
<ol> <li>I felt that everything I did was an effort.</li> </ol>				
5. I felt hopeful about the future.				
6. I felt fearful.				
<ol> <li>My sleep was restless.</li> </ol>				
8. I was happy.				
9. I felt lonely.				
10. I could not "get going."				

# **Caregiver Strain Index**

	Yes=1	No=0
Sleep is disturbed (e.g., becauseis in and out of bed or wanders around at night)		
It is inconvenient (e.g., because helping takes so much time or it's a long drive over to help)		
It is a physical strain (e.g., because of lifting in and out of a chair; effort or concentration is required)		
It is confining (e.g., helping restricts free time or cannot go visiting)		
There have been family adjustments (e.g., because helping has disrupted routine; there has been no privacy)		
There have been changes in personal plans (e.g., had to turn down a job; could not go on vacation)		
There have been other demands on my time (e.g., from other family members)		
There have been emotional adjustments (e.g., because of severe arguments)		
Some behavior is upsetting (e.g., because of incontinence; has trouble remembering things; oraccuses people of taking things)		
It is upsetting to find has changed so much from his/her former self (e.g., he/she is a different person than he/she used to be )		
There have been work adjustments (e.g., because of having to take time off)		
It is a financial strain		
Feeling completely overwhelmed (e.g., because of worry about; concerns about how you will manage)		
<b>TOTAL SCORE</b> (Count yes responses. Any positive answer may indicate a need for intervention in that area. A score of 7 or higher indicates a high level of stress.)		

#### The Neuropsychiatric Inventory Questionnaire (NPI-Q)

Please answer the following questions based on changes that have occurred since the patient first began to experience memory problems.

Circle "Yes" only if the symptom(s) has been present <u>in the last month</u>. Otherwise, circle "No". For each item marked "Yes":

#### a) Rate the SEVERITY of the symptom (how it affects <u>the patient</u>):

**1 = Mild** (noticeable, but not a significant change)

**2 = Moderate** (significant, but not a dramatic change)

**3 = Severe** (very marked or prominent, a dramatic change)

#### b) Rate the DISTRESS you experience due to that symptom (how it affects <u>vou</u>):

- 0 = Not distressing at all
- **1 = Minimal** (slightly distressing, not a problem to cope with)
- **2** = Mild (not very distressing, generally easy to cope with)
- **3 = Moderate** (fairly distressing, not always easy to cope with)
- **4 = Severe** (very distressing, difficult to cope with)
- **5 = Extreme or Very Severe** (extremely distressing, unable to cope with)

Please answer each question carefully. Ask for assistance if you have any questions.

Delusions		Does the patient have false beliefs, such as thinking that others are stealing from him/her or planning to harm him/her in some way?											
Yes	No	SEVER	ITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
Hallu	cinations	Does the or she se	e patie em to	nt h hea	ave ar or	hallu see 1	cinations such as things that are no	s fal t pr	se vi esent	sion: t?	s or	voice	es? Does he
Yes	No	SEVER	ITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
Agitation/Aggression Is the patient resistive to help from others at times, or hard to handle?													
Yes	No	SEVER	ITY:	1	2	3	<b>DISTRESS</b> :	0	1	2	3	4	5
<b>Depression/Dysphoria</b> Does the patient seem sad or say that he /she is depressed?													
Yes	No	SEVER	ITY:	1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	

Anxiety		Does the patient become upset when separated from you? Does he/she have any other signs of nervousness such as shortness of breath, sighing, being unable to relax, or feeling excessively tense?										
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Elation/Euphoria		Does the patient appear to feel too good or act excessively happy?										
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Apat	hy/Indifference	Does the patie activities and	ent s plar	eem is of	less in others	terested in his/l ?	ner u	sual	activ	vitie	s or i	in the
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Disinhibition		Does the patient seem to act impulsively, for example, talking to strangers as if he/she knows them, or saying things that may hurt people's feelings?										
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Irrita	bility/Lability	Is the patient with delays o	impa r wa	atien iting	t and c for pl	cranky? Does he anned activities	e/she ?	hav	e dif	ficu	lty c	oping
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Moto	r Disturbance	Does the patie house, handli repeatedly?	ent e ng b	ngag uttor	ge in re 1s, wra	epetitive activiti apping string, or	es su doin	ich ang of	is pa ther	cing thinរួ	aroı gs	und the
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
<b>Nighttime Behaviors</b> Does the patient awaken you during the night, rise too early in the morning, or take excessive naps during the day?												
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
Арре	tite/Eating	Has the patie he/she likes?	nt lo	st or	gained	d weight, or had	l a cl	nang	e in	the t	ype	of food
Yes	No	SEVERITY:	: 1	2	3	DISTRESS:	0	1	2	3	4	5
	Devel	oped by Daniel k	Kaufe	r, MD	. Final	Version 6/99. © JI	L Cun	nming	gs, 19	94; a	ll rigł	nts reserved

### **APPENDIX H: TREATMENT FIDELITY CODING SHEET**

UCF Caregiver Support Group Treatment Fidelity Coding Form Session Number Date and time of coding Coder



			r
Clinical Activity	Yes	No	Notes
Introducing group members			
Empathic listening: Group			
members describe their			
challenges and group leaders			
acknowledge their emotions,			
express sympathy	-		
Problem solving: Group			
members describe practical			
problems and group members			
suggest solutions			
Community resource provision:			
ADRC and group leaders discuss			
specific community resources			
(professional services,			
transportation, etc.)			
Psychoeducation - dementia:			
Group leader trains group			
members on sympoms of			
dementia			
Psychoeducation - behavior			
management: Group leader			
trains group members on ABC's			
of behavior management			
principles			
Application of behavior			
management: Group members			
use behavior management			
principles to understand and			
create a modification plan for			
care recipient behaviors			
<b>Psychoeducation - pleasant</b>			
events: Group leader describes			
benefits of pleasant events,			
burnout, and self-care			
Discussing pleasant events:			
Problem solving around			
pleasant events specifically,			
discussing perceived benefits			
Other			

### APPENDIX I: IRB APPROVAL OF HUMAN RESEARCH



University of Central Florida Institutional Review Board Office of Research & Commercialization 12201 Research Parkway, Suite 501 Orlando, Florida 32826-3246 Telephone: 407-823-2901 or 407-882-2276 www.research.ucf.edu/compliance/irb.html

#### **Approval of Human Research**

#### From: UCF Institutional Review Board #1 FWA00000351, IRB00001138

To: **Daniel Lee Paulson** and Co-PIs **Danielle Herring, David Brush, Ian Dalton, Manuel Herrera Legon, Mona Shah, Nicholas T James, Rachel Bassett, Rosanna Scott** 

Date: May 03, 2017

Dear Researcher:

On 05/03/2017 the IRB approved the following modifications to human participant research until 10/25/2017 inclusive:

Type of Review:	IRB Addendum and Modification Request Form
Modification Type:	Added Nicholas James as Co-PI, Removed research assistants
	not engaged in research, added a treatment fidelity checklist,
	added new advertisement, updated protocol and consent forms
Project Title:	Caregiver burden and depression: Caring for those who care for
	others.
Investigator:	Daniel Lee Paulson
IRB Number:	SBE-15-11548
Funding Agency:	UCF College of Medicine(UCF COM)
Grant Title:	UCF Caregiver Support Group and Stress Study

Research ID: N/A

The scientific merit of the research was considered during the IRB review. The Continuing Review Application must be submitted 30days prior to the expiration date for studies that were previously expedited, and 60 days prior to the expiration date for research that was previously reviewed at a convened meeting. Do not make changes to the study (i.e., protocol, methodology, consent form, personnel, site, etc.) before obtaining IRB approval. A Modification Form <u>cannot</u> be used to extend the approval period of a study. All forms may be completed and submitted online at <u>https://iris.research.ucf.edu</u>.

If continuing review approval is not granted before the expiration date of 10/25/2017, approval of this research expires on that date. When you have completed your research, please submit a Study Closure request in iRIS so that IRB records will be accurate.

<u>Use of the approved, stamped consent document(s) is required.</u> The new form supersedes all previous versions, which are now invalid for further use. Only approved investigators (or other approved key study personnel) may solicit consent for research participation. Participants or their representatives must receive a copy of the consent form(s).

All data, including signed consent forms if applicable, must be retained and secured per protocol for a minimum of five years (six if HIPAA applies) past the completion of this research. Any links to the identification of participants should be maintained and secured per protocol. Additional requirements may be imposed by your funding agency, your department, or other entities. Access to data is limited to authorized individuals listed as key study personnel.

In the conduct of this research, you are responsible to follow the requirements of the <u>Investigator Manual</u>. On behalf of Sophia Dziegielewski, Ph.D., L.C.S.W., UCF IRB Chair, this letter is signed by:

Kener Cower

Signature applied by Renea C Carver on 05/03/2017 01:26:02 PM EDT

IRB Coordinator

#### REFERENCES

- Acton, G. J., & Kang, J. (2001). Interventions to reduce the burden of caregiving for an adult with dementia: A meta-analysis. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 24(5), 349-360. doi:10.1002/nur.1036
- Alzheimer's Association. (2015). 2015 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11(3), 1-88s.
- Alzheimer's Association. (2018). 2018 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 14(3), 367-429.
- Andresen, E. M., Byers, K., Friary, J., Kosloski, K., & Montgomery, R. (2013). Performance of the 10-item Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression scale for caregiving research. *SAGE Open Medicine*, 1, 1-9. doi:10.1177/2050312113514576
- Andresen, E. M., Malmgren, J. A., Carter, W. B., & Patrick, D. L. (1994). Screening for depression in well older adults: Evaluation of a short form of the CES-D. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 10(2), 77-84. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(18)30622-6
- Arai, Y., Sugiura, M., Washio, M., Miura, H., & Kudo, A. K. (2001). Caregiver depression predicts early discontinuation of care for disabled elderly at home. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 55, 379-382. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1819.2001.00878.x
- Archbold, P. G., Stewart, B. J., Greenlick, M. R., & Harvath, T. (1990). Mutuality and preparedness as predictors of caregiver role strain. *Research in Nursing and Health*, *13*(6), 375-384. doi:10.1002/nur.4770130605
- Barker, W. W., Luis, C. A., Kashuba, A., Luis, M., Harwood, D. G., Loewenstein, D., . . . Duara,R. (2002). Relative frequencies of Alzheimer disease, Lewy body, vascular and

frontotemporal dementia, and hippocampal sclerosis in the State of Florida Brain Bank. *Alzheimer's Disease & Associated Disorders, 16*(4), 203-212. doi:10.1097/00002093-200210000-00001

- Belle, S. H., Burgio, L., Burns, R., Coon, D., Czaja, S. J., Gallagher-Thompson, D., . . . Zhang,
  S. (2006). Enhancing the quality of life of dementia caregivers from different ethnic or racial groups: A randomized, controlled trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *145*(10), 727-738. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-145-10-200611210-00005
- Bjorgvinsson, T., Kertz, S. J., Bigda-Peyton, J. S., McCoy, K. L., & Aderka, I. M. (2013).
  Psychometric properties of the CES-D-10 in a psychiatric sample. *Assessment*, 20(4), 429-436. doi:10.1177/1073191113481998
- Bouldin, E. D., & Andersen, E. (2014). Caregiving across the United States: Caregivers of persons with Alzheimer's disease or dementia in 8 states and the District of Columbia.
   Retrieved from <a href="http://www.alz.org/publichealth/data-collection.asp">http://www.alz.org/publichealth/data-collection.asp</a>
- Brodaty, H. (2009). Family caregivers of people with dementia. *Dialogues in Clinical Neuroscience*, *11*(2), 217-228.
- Brodaty, H., & Arasaratnam, C. (2012). Meta-analysis of nonpharmacological interventions for neuropsychiatric symptoms of dementia. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 169(9), 946-953. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.11101529
- Brodaty, H., Green, A., & Koschera, A. (2003). Meta-analysis of psychosocial interventions for caregivers of people with dementia. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 51(5), 657-664. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0579.2003.00210.x

- Brodaty, H., Seeher, K., & Gibson, L. (2012). Dementia time to death: A systematic literature review on survival time and years of life lost in people with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(7), 1034-1045. doi:10.1017/S1041610211002924
- Budson, A. E., & Kowall, N. W. (2011). Handbook of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. West Sussex, UK: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Burgio, L. D., Collins, I. B., Schmid, B., Wharton, T., McCallum, D., & Decoster, J. (2009).
  Translating the REACH caregiver intervention for use by area agency on aging personnel: The REACH OUT program. *The Gerontologist*, 49(1), 103-116.
  doi:10.1093/geront/gnp012
- Burns, A., & Iliffe, S. (2009). Dementia. The BMJ, 338, 405-409. doi:10.1136/bmj.b75
- Burr, J. A., & Mutchler, J. E. (1999). Race and ethnic variation in norms of filial responsibility among older persons. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 61(3), 674-687. doi:10.2307/353569
- Callahan, C. M., Boustani, M. A., Unverzagt, F. W., Austrom, M. G., Damush, T. M., Perkins,A. J., . . . Hendrie, H. C. (2006). Effectiveness of collaborative care for older adults withAlzheimer disease in primary care:
- A randomized controlled trial. *The Journal of American Medical Association*, 295(18), 2148-2157. doi:10.1001/jama.295.18.2148
- Cerejeira, J., Lagarto, L., & Mukaetova-Ladinska, E. B. (2012). Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *3*(73), 1-21.
  doi:10.3389/fneur.2012.00073
- Chappell, N. L., & Funk, L. (2011). Filial responsibility: Does it matter for care-giving behaviours? *Ageing and Society*, *32*(7), 1128-1146. doi:10.1017/s0144686x11000821

- Chassin, L., Macy, J. T., Seo, D., Presson, C. C., & Sherman, S. J. (2010). The association between membership in the sandwich generation and health behaviors: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Applied Developmental Psychology*, *31*(1), 38-46. doi:10.1016/j.appdev.2009.06.001
- Cheng, S. T., Chan, A. C., & Fung, H. H. (2006). Factorial structure of a short version of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 21(4), 333-336. doi:10.1002/gps.1467
- Chien, L. Y., Chu, H., Guo, J. L., Liao, Y. M., Chang, L. I., Chen, C. H., & Chou, K. R. (2011). Caregiver support groups in patients with dementia: A meta-analysis. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 26(10), 1089-1098. doi:10.1002/gps.2660
- Chou, K. R. (2000). Caregiver burden: A concept analysis. *Journal of Pediatric Nursing*, 15(6), 398-407. doi:10.1053/jpdn.2000.16709
- Chou, K. R., LaMontagne, L. L., & Hepworth, J. T. (1999). Burden experienced by caregivers of relatives with dementia in Taiwan. *Nursing Research*, 48(4), 206-214. doi:10.1097/00006199-199907000-00003
- Chu, H., Yang, C. Y., Liao, Y. H., Chang, L. I., Chen, C. H., Lin, C. C., & Chou, K. R. (2011).
  The effects of a support group on dementia caregivers' burden and depression. *Journal of Aging Health*, 23(2), 228-241. doi:10.1177/0898264310381522
- Cicirelli, V. G. (1991). Family caregiving: Autonomous and paternalistic decision making. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

Cicirelli, V. G. (1993). Attachment and obligation as daughters' motives for caregiving behavior and subsequent effect on subjective burden. *Psychology and Aging*, 8(2), 144-155.

doi:10.1037/0882-7974.8.2.144

- Clyburn, L. D., Stones, M. J., Hadjistavropoulos, T., & Tuokko, H. (2000). Predicting caregiver burden and depression in Alzheimer's disease. *Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Social Sciences*, 55B(1), S2-S13. doi:10.1093/geronb/55.1.S2
- Connell, C. M., & Gibson, G. D. (1997). Racial, ethnic, and cultural differences in dementia caregiving: Review and analysis. *The Gerontologist*, *37*(3), 355-364.
  doi:10.1093/geront/37.3.355
- Cooke, D. D., McNally, L., Mulligan, K. T., Harrison, M. J. G., & Newman, S. P. (2001).
   Psychosocial interventions for caregivers of people with dementia: A systematic review.
   *Aging and Mental Health*, 5(2), 120-135. doi:10.1080/713650019
- Coon, D. W., Rubert, M., Solano, N., Mausbach, B., Kraemer, H., Arguelles, T., . . . Gallagher-Thompson, D. (2004). Well-being, appraisal, and coping in Latina and Caucasian female dementia caregivers: Findings from the REACH study. *Aging and Mental Health*, 8(4), 330-345. doi:10.1080/13607860410001709683
- Covinsky, K. E., Newcomer, R., Fox, P. J., Woods, J., Sands, L., Dane, K., & Yaffe, K. (2003).
  Patient and caregiver characteristics associated with depression in caregivers of patients with dementia. *J Gen Intern Med*, *18*(12), 1006-1014. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2003.30103.x
- Cuijpers, P. (2005). Depressive disorders in caregivers of dementia patients: A systematic review. *Aging and Mental Health*, *9*(4), 325-330. doi:10.1080/13607860500090078
- Cuijpers, P., Hosman, C. M. H., & Munnichs, J. M. A. (1996). Change mechanisms of support groups for caregivers of pementia patients. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 8(4), 575-587. doi:10.1017/s104161029600289x

- D'Aoust, R. F., Brewster, G., & Rowe, M. A. (2015). Depression in informal caregivers of persons with dementia. *International Journal of Older People Nursing*, 10(1), 14-26. doi:10.1111/opn.12043
- Dang, S., Badiye, A., & Kelkar, G. (2008). The dementia caregiver A primary care approach. *Southern Medical Journal, 101*(12), 1246-1251. doi:10.1097/SMJ.0b013e318187cccc
- Danhauer, S. C., McCann, J. J., Gilley, D. W., Beckett, L. A., Bienias, J. L., & Evans, D. A.
  (2004). Do behavioral disturbances in persons with Alzheimer's disease predict caregiver depression over time? *Psychology and Aging*, *19*(1), 198-202. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.19.1.198
- DeCoster, J., Gallucci, M., & Iselin, A. R. (2011). Best practices for using median splits, artificial categorization, and their continuous alternatives. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 2(2), 197-209. doi:10.5127/jep.008310
- Diwan, S., Hougham, G. W., & Sachs, G. A. (2004). Strain experienced by caregivers of dementia patients receiving palliative care: findings from the Palliative Excellence in Alzheimer Care Efforts (PEACE) Program. *Journal of Palliative Medicine*, 7(6), 797-807. doi:10.1089/jpm.2004.7.797
- Donaldson, C., Tarrier, N., & Burns, A. (1997). The impact of the symptoms of dementia on caregivers. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, *170*(1), 62-68. doi:10.1192/bjp.170.1.62
- Elliott, A. F., Burgio, L. D., & Decoster, J. (2010). Enhancing caregiver health: Findings from the Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health II intervention. *Journal of American Geriatrics Society*, 58(1), 30-37. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2009.02631.x

- Etters, L., Goodall, D., & Harrison, B. E. (2008). Caregiver burden among dementia patient caregivers: A review of the literature. *Journal of American Academy of Nurse Practitioners*, 20(8), 423-428. doi:10.1111/j.1745-7599.2008.00342.x
- Finkel, S. I., Costa e Silva., J., Cohen, G., Miller, S., & Sartorius, N. (1996). Behavioral and psychological signs and symptoms of dementia: A consensus statement on current knowledge and implications for research and treatment. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 8(3), 497-500. doi:10.1017/S1041610297003943
- Friedman, E. M., Shih, R. A., Langa, K. M., & Hurd, M. D. (2015). US prevalence and predictors of informal caregiving for dementia. *Health Affairs*, 34(10), 1637-1641. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0510
- Gallagher, D., Ni Mhaolain, A., Crosby, L., Ryan, D., Lacey, L., Coen, R. F., . . . Lawlor, B. A. (2011). Self-efficacy for managing dementia may protect against burden and depression in Alzheimer's caregivers. *Aging and Mental Health*, *15*(6), 663-670. doi:10.1080/13607863.2011.562179
- Gans, D., & Silverstein, M. (2006). Norms of filial responsibility for aging parents across time and generations. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 68(4), 961-976. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2006.00307.x
- Garre-Olmo, J., Vilalta-Franch, J., Calvó-Perxas, L., Turró-Garriga, O., Conde-Sala, L., López-Pousa, S., . . . Quílez, P. (2016). A path analysis of patient depedence and caregiver burden in Alzheimer's disease. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 28(7), 1133-1141. doi:10.1017/S1041610216000223

- Gaugler, J. E., Reese, M., & Mittelman, M. S. (2013). Effects of the NYU caregiver interventionadult child on residential care placement. *The Gerontologist*, 53(6), 985-997. doi:10.1093/geront/gns193
- Gitlin, L. N., Belle, S. H., Burgio, L. D., Czaja, S. J., Mahoney, D., Gallagher-Thompson, D., . . .
  Ory, M. G. (2003). Effect of multicomponent interventions on caregiver burden and depression: The REACH multisite initiative at 6-month follow-up. *Psychology and Aging*, *18*(3), 361-374. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.18.3.361
- Gitlin, L. N., Marx, K., Stanley, I. H., & Hodgson, N. (2015). Translating evidence-based dementia caregiving interventions into practice: State-of-the-science and next steps. *The Gerontologist*, 55(2), 210-226. doi:10.1093/geront/gnu123
- Gonyea, J. G., O'Connor, M. K., & Boyle, P. A. (2006). Project CARE: A randomized controlled trial of a behavioral intervention group for Alzheimer's disease caregivers. *The Gerontologist*, 46(6), 827-832. doi:10.1093/geront/46.6.827
- Gonzalez, P., Nunez, A., Merz, E., Brintz, C., Weitzman, O., Navas, E. L., . . . Gallo, L. C. (2017). Measurement properties of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D 10): Findings from HCHS/SOL. *Psychological Assessment, 29*(4), 372-381. doi:10.1037/pas0000330
- Haley, W. E., Gitlin, L., Wisniewski, S. R., Mahoney, D., Coon, D., Winter, L., ... Ory, M. G. (2004). Well-being, appraisal, and coping in African-American and Caucasian dementia caregivers: findings from the REACH study. *Aging and Mental Health*, 8(4), 316-329. doi:10.1080/13607860410001728998
- Harrington, C., Preston, S., Grant, L., & Swan, J. H. (1992). Revised trends in states' nursing home capacity. *Health Affairs*, 11(2), 170-180. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.11.2.170

- Harris-Kohetin, L., Sengupta, M., Park-Lee, E., Valverde, R., Caffrey, C., Rome, V., & Lendon,
  J. (2016). Long-term care providers ans service users in the United States: Data from the
  National Study of Long-Term Care Providers, 2013-2014. *Vital Health Statistics*, 3(38),
  1-105.
- Hebert, L. E., Weuve, J., Scherr, P. A., & Evans, D. A. (2013). Alzheimer's disease in the United States (2010-2050) estimated using the 2010 census. *Neurology*, 80(19), 1778-1783. doi:10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828726f5
- Hebert, R. S., Dang, Q., & Schulz, R. (2007). Religious beliefs and practices are associated with better mental health in family caregivers of patients with dementia: Findings from the REACH study. *American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *15*(4), 292-300. doi:10.1097/01.JGP.0000247160.11769.ab
- Henriksson, A., & Arestedt, K. (2013). Exploring factors and caregiver outcomes associated with feelings of preparedness for caregiving in family caregivers in palliative care: A correlational, cross-sectional study. *Palliative Medicine*, 27(7), 639-646. doi:10.1177/0269216313486954
- Hepburn, K., Lewis, M., Sherman, C. W., & Tornatore, J. (2003). The Savvy Caregiver Program:
   Developing and testing a transportable dementia family caregiver training program. *The Gerontologist*, 43(6), 908-915. doi:10.1093/geront/43.6.908
- Hepburn, K., Lewis, M., Tornatore, J., Sherman, C. W., & Bremer, K. L. (2007). The savvy caregiver program: The demonstrated effectiveness of a transportable dementia caregiver psychoeducation program. *Journal of Gerontological Nursing*, *33*(3), 30-36.
- Hoffman, R. L., & Mitchell, A. M. (1998). Caregiver burden: Historical development. *Nursing Forum*, 33(4), 5-12. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6198.1998.tb00223.x

- Hornillos, C., & Crespo, M. (2011). Support groups for caregivers of Alzheimer patients: A historical review. *Dementia*, *11*(2), 155-169. doi:10.1177/1471301211421258
- Huang, S. S., Liao, Y. C., & Wang, W. F. (2015). Association between caregiver depression and individual behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia in Taiwanese patients. *Asia-Pacific Psychiatry*, 7(3), 251-259. doi:10.1111/appy.12175
- Hurd, M. D., Martorell, P., Delavande, A., Mullen, K. J., & Langa, K. M. (2013). Monetary costs of dementia in the United States. *New England Journal of Medicine*, *368*(14), 1326-1334. doi:10.1056/NEJMsa1204629
- Iacobucci, D., Posavac, S. S., Kardes, F. R., Schneider, M. J., & Popovich, D. L. (2015). The median split: Robust, refined, and revived. *Journal of Consumer Psychology*, 25(4), 690-704. doi:10.1016/j.jcps.2015.06.014
- Jankowiak, J., & Knopman, D. (2006). Facing reality: The cost of Alzheimer dementia Who will pay? *Neurology*, 67(6), E11-E12. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000240882.63507.d7
- Kales, H. C., Gitlin, L. N., & Lyketsos, C. G. (2015). Assessment and management of behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *The BMJ*, *350*, h369. doi:10.1136/bmj.h369
- Kathol, R. G., Butler, M., McAlpine, D. D., & Kane, R. L. (2010). Barriers to physical and mental condition integrated service delivery. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 72(6), 511-518. doi:10.1097/PSY.0b013e3181e2c4a0
- Kaufer, D., Cummings, J. L., Ketchel, P., Smith, V., MacMillan, A., Shelley, L., . . . DeKosky,
  S. T. (2000). Validation of the NPI-Q, a brief clinical form of the Neuropsychiatric
  Inventory. *Journal of Neuropsychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, *12*(2), 233-239.
  doi:10.1176/jnp.12.2.233

- Kemper, S., & Lyons, K. (1994). The Effects of Alzheimer's Dementia on Language and Communication In M. L. Hummert, J. M. Wiemann, & J. F. Nussbaum (Eds.), *Interpersonal Communication in Older Adulthood: Interdisciplinary Theory and Research* (Vol. 173). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Khachiyants, N., Trinkle, D., Son, S. J., & Kim, K. Y. (2011). Sundown syndrome in persons with dementia: An update. *Psychiatry Investig*, 8(4), 275-287.
  doi:10.4306/pi.2011.8.4.275
- Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Dura, J. R., Speicher, C. E., Trask, O. J., & Glaser, R. (1991). Spousal caregivers of dementia victims: Longitudinal changes in immunity and health. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 53(4), 345-362. doi:10.1097/00006842-199107000-00001
- Levine, C. (2003). Depression in caregivers of patients with dementia: A greater role for physicians. *J Gen Intern Med*, *18*(12), 1058-1059. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1497.2003.31003.x
- Levine, C., Hunt, G. G., Halper, D., Hart, A. Y., Lautz, J., & Gould, D. (2005). Young adult caregivers: A first look at an unstudied population. *American Journal of Public Health*, 95(11), 2071-2075. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.067702)
- Lichtenberg, P. A., Murman, D. L., & Mellow, A. M. (2003). Handbook of Dementia: Psychology, Neurological, and Psychiatric Perspectives. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons.
- Liddle, J., Smith-Conway, E. R., Baker, R., Angwin, A. J., Gallois, C., Copland, D. A., . . .
  Chenery, H. J. (2012). Memory and communication support strategies in dementia: Effect of a training program for informal caregivers. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(12), 1927-1942. doi:10.1017/S1041610212001366

- Little, J. T., Satlin, A., Sunderland, T., & Volicer, L. (1995). Sundown syndrome in severely demented patients with probable Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 8(2), 103-106. doi:10.1177/089198879500800205
- Mahdavi, B., Fallahi-Khoshknab, M., Mohammadi, F., Hosseini, M. A., & Haghi, M. (2017).
  Effects of spiritual group therapy on caregiver strain in home caregivers of the elderly with Alzheimer's disease. *Archives of Psychiatric Nursing*, *31*(3), 269-273.
  doi:10.1016/j.apnu.2016.12.003
- Mahoney, D., Jones, R. N., Coon, D. W., Mendelsohn, A. B., Gitlin, L., & Ory, M. G. (2003).
  The Caregiver Vigilance Scale: Application and validation in the Resources for
  Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH) project. *American Journal of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias*, 18(1), 39-48.
  doi:10.1177/153331750301800110
- Mahoney, R., Regan, C., Katona, C., & Livingston, G. (2005). Anxiety and depression in family caregivers of people with Alzheimer's disease: The LASER-AD study. *American Journal* of Geriatric Psychiatry, 13(9), 795-801. doi:10.1176/appi.ajgp.13.9.795
- Marszalek, J. M., Barber, C., Kohlhart, J., & Holmes, C. B. (2011). Sample size in psychological research over the past 30 years. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, *112*(2), 331-348. doi:10.2466/03.11.PMS.112.2.331-348
- Mausbach, B. T., Chattillion, E., Roepke, S. K., Ziegler, M. G., Milic, M., von Känel, R., . . .
  Grant, I. (2012). A longitudinal analysis of the relations among stress, depressive symptoms, leisure satisfaction, and endothelial function in caregivers. *Health Psychology*, *31*(4), 433-440. doi:10.1037/a0027783

Mausbach, B. T., Patterson, T. L., Rabinowitz, Y. G., Grant, I., & Schulz, R. (2007). Depression and distress predict time to cardiovascular disease in dementia caregivers. *Health Psychology*, 26(5), 539-544. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.26.5.539

Mittelman, M. S. (2008). Psychosocial intervention research: Challenges, strategies and measurement issues. *Aging and Mental Health*, 12(1), 1-4. doi:10.1080/13607860801896470

- Mittelman, M. S. (2013). Psychosocial Interventions to Address the Emotional Needs of
   Caregivers of Individuals with Alzheimer's Disease. In S. H. Zarit & R. C. Talley (Eds.),
   *Caregiving for Alzheimer's disease and related disorders* (pp. 17-34). NY, New York:
   Springer.
- Mittelman, M. S., Ferris, S. H., Shulman, E., Steinberg, G., Ambinder, A., Mackell, J. A., & Cohen, J. (1995). A comprehensive support program: Effect on depression in spouse-caregivers of AD patients. *The Gerontologist*, *35*(6), 792-802.
  doi:10.1093/geront/35.6.792
- Mittelman, M. S., Ferris, S. H., Steinberg, G., Shulman, E., Mackell, J. A., Ambinder, A., & Cohen, J. (1993). An intervention that delays institutionalization of Alzheimer's Disease patients: Treatment of spouse-caregivers. *The Gerontologist*, *33*(6), 730-740. doi:10.1093/geront/33.6.730
- Mittelman, M. S., Haley, W. E., Clay, O. J., & Roth, D. L. (2006). Improving caregiver wellbeing delays nursing home placement of patients with Alzheimer disease. *Neurology*, 67(9), 1592-1599. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000242727.81172.91
- Mittelman, M. S., Roth, D. L., Haley, W. E., & Zarit, S. H. (2004). Effects of a caregiver intervention on negative caregiver appraisals of behavior problems in patients with

Alzheimer's disease: Results of a randomized trial. *Journal of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences*, 59B(1), 27-34. doi:10.1093/geronb/59.1.p27

- Mohebbi, M., Nguyen, V., McNeil, J. J., Woods, R. L., Nelson, M. R., Shah, R. C., . . . Berk, M. (2018). Psychometric properties of a short form of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression (CES-D-10) scale for screening depressive symptoms in healthy community dwelling older adults. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, *51*, 118-125. doi:10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2017.08.002
- Moore, M. J., Zhu, C. W., & Clipp, E. C. (2001). Informal costs of dementia care: Estimates from the National Longitudinal Caregiver Study. *Journal of Gerontology, Series B: Social Sciences*, 56(4), S219-S228.
- National Alliance for Caregiving, & AARP. (2015). *Caregiving in the U.S.* Retrieved from Bethesda, MD:
- Nichols, L. O., Martindale-Adams, J., Burns, R., Zuber, J., & Graney, M. J. (2016). REACH VA: Moving from translation to system implementation. *The Gerontologist*, 56(1), 135-144. doi:10.1093/geront/gnu112
- O'brien, R. M. (2007). A caution regarding rules of thumb for variance inflation factors. *Quality* & *Quantity*, 41(5), 673-690. doi:10.1007/s11135-006-9018-6

Ornstein, K., & Gaugler, J. E. (2012). The problem with "problem behaviors": A systematic review of the association between individual patient behavioral and psychological symptoms and caregiver depression and burden within the dementia patient-caregiver dyad. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(10), 1536-1552.
doi:10.1017/S1041610212000737

- Ory, M. G., Hoffman III, R. R., Yee, J. L., Tennstedt, S., & Schulz, R. (1999). Prevalence and impact of caregiving: A detailed comparison between dementia and nondementia caregivers. *The Gerontologist*, 39(2), 177-185. doi:10.1093/geront/39.2.177
- Papastavrou, E., Kalokerinou, A., Papacostas, S. S., Tsangari, H., & Sourtzi, P. (2007). Caring for a relative with dementia: Family caregiver burden. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 58(5), 446-457. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2007.04250.x
- Parker, D., Mills, S., & Abbey, J. (2008). Effectiveness of interventions that assist caregivers to support people with dementia living in the community: A systematic review. *International Journal of Evidenced-Based Healthcare*, 6(2), 137-172.
  doi:10.1111/j.1744-1609.2008.00090.x
- Peacock, S. C., & Forbes, D. A. (2003). Interventions for caregivers of persons with dementia: A systematic review. *Canadian Journal of Nursing Research*, 35(4), 88-107.
- Pinidbunjerdkool, A., Saengwanitch, S., & Sithinamsuwan, P. (2014). Behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia. *Journal of the Medical Association Thailand*, 97(2), S168-174.
- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2005). Ethnic differences in stressors, resources, and psychological outcomes of family caregiving: A meta-analysis. *The Gerontologist*, 45(1), 90-106. doi:10.1093/geront/45.1.90
- Pinquart, M., & Sorensen, S. (2006). Helping caregivers of persons with dementia: Which interventions work and how large are their effects? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 18(4), 577-595. doi:10.1017/S1041610206003462
- Plassman, B. L., Langa, K. M., Fisher, G. G., Heeringa, S. G., Weir, D. R., Ofstedal, M. B., . . . Wallace, R. B. (2007). Prevalence of dementia in the United States: The aging,

demographics, and memory study. *Neuroepidemiology*, 29(1-2), 125-132. doi:10.1159/000109998

- Prince, M., Bryce, R., Albanese, E., Wimo, A., Ribeiro, W., & Ferri, C. P. (2013). The global prevalence of dementia: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 9(1), 63-75 e62. doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.007
- Pusey, H., & Richards, D. (2001). A systematic review of the effectiveness of psychosocial interventions for carers of people with dementia. *Aging and Mental Health*, 5(2), 107-119. doi:10.1080/13607860120038302
- Radloff, L. S. (1997). The CES-D Scale: A self-report depression scale for research in the general population. *Applied Psychological Measurement*, *1*, 385-401.
  doi:10.1177/014662167700100306
- Reitz, C., Brayne, C., & Mayeux, R. (2011). Epidemiology of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 7(3), 137-152. doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2011.2
- Robinson, B. C. (1983). Validation of a Caregiver Strain Index. *Journal of Gerontology*, *38*(3), 344-348. doi:10.1093/geronj/38.3.344
- Rossi, A. S., & Rossi, P. H. (1990). *Of Human Bonding: Parent-Child Relations Across the Life Course*. Hawthorne, NY: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Rubin, R. M., & White-Means, S. I. (2009). Informal caregiving: Dilemmas of sandwiched caregivers. *Journal of Family and Economic Issues*, 30(3), 252-267. doi:10.1007/s10834-009-9155-x
- Sallim, A. B., Sayampanathan, A. A., Cuttilan, A., & Ho, R. C. (2015). Prevalence of mental health disorders among caregivers of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *The Journal of*

*Post-Acute and Long-Term Care Medicine*, *16*(12), 1034-1041. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2015.09.007

- Samia, L. W., Hepburn, K., & Nichols, L. (2012). "Flying by the seat of our pants": What dementia family caregivers want in an advanced caregiver training program. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 35(6), 598-609. doi:10.1002/nur.21504
- Sandilyan, M. B., & Dening, T. (2015). Signs and symptoms of dementia. *Nursing Standard*, 29(41), 42-51. doi:10.7748/ns.29.41.42.e9440
- Scharlach, A. E., Kellam, R., Ong, N., Baskin, A., Goldstein, C., & Fox, P. J. (2006). Cultural attitudes and caregiver service use: Lessons from focus groups with racially and ethnically diverse family caregivers. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 47(1-2), 133-156. doi:10.1300/J083v47n01\_09
- Scherbring, M. (2002). Effect of caregiver perception of preparedness on burden in an oncology population. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 29(6), E70-E76. doi:10.1188/02.ONF.E70-E76
- Schulz, R. (2000). Handbook on Dementia Caregiving: Evidenced-based Interventions in Family Caregivers. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company.
- Schulz, R., Burgio, L., Burns, R., Eisdorfer, C., Gallagher-Thompson, D., Gitlin, L. N., & Mahoney, D. F. (2003). Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health (REACH):

Overview, site-specific outcomes, and future directions. *The Gerontologist*, 43(4), 514-520.

Schulz, R., & Martire, L. M. (2004). Family caregiving of persons with dementia: Prevalence, health effects, and support strategies. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *12*(3), 240-249. doi:10.1097/00019442-200405000-00002

- Schulz, R., McGinnis, K. A., Zhang, S., Martire, L. M., Hebert, R. S., Beach, S. R., . . . Belle, S. H. (2008). Dementia patient suffering and caregiver depression. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 22(2), 170-176. doi:10.1097/WAD.0b013e31816653cc
- Schulz, R., O'Brien, A., Czaja, S., Ory, M. G., Norris, R., Martire, L. M., . . . Burns, R. (2002).
   Dementia caregiver intervention research in search of clinical significance. *The Gerontologist*, 42(5), 589-602. doi:10.1093/geront/42.5.589
- Schulz, R., O'Brien, A. T., Bookwala, J., & Fleissner, K. (1995). Psychiatric and physical morbidity effects of demetia caregiving: Prevalence, correlates and causes. *The Gerontologist*, 35(6), 771-779. doi:10.1093/geront/35.6.771
- Schumacher, K. L., Stewart, B. J., & Archbold, P. G. (2007). Mutality and preparedness moderate the effects of caregiving demand on cancer family caregiver outcomes. *Nursing Research*, 56(6), 425-433. doi:10.1097/01.nnr.0000299852.75300.03
- Schumacher, K. L., Stewart, B. J., Archbold, P. G., Caparro, M., Mutale, F., & Agrawal, S.
  (2008). Effects of caregiving demand, mutuality, and preparedness on family caregiver outcomes during cancer treatment. *Oncology Nursing Forum*, 35(1), 49-56.
  doi:10.1188/08.ONF.49-56
- Shrestha, L. B., & Heisler, E. J. (2011). *The changing demographic profile of the United States*. CRS Report for Congress.
- Shyu, Y. I., Yang, C. T., Huang, C. C., Kuo, H. C., Chen, S. T., & Hsu, W. C. (2010). Influences of mutuality, preparedness, and balance on caregivers of patients with dementia. *Journal* of Nursing Research, 18(3), 155-163. doi:10.1097/JNR.0b013e3181ed5845

- Silverstein, M., Parrott, T. M., & Bengtson, V. L. (1995). Factors that predispose middle-aged sons and daughters to provide social support to older parents. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 57(2), 465-475. doi:10.2307/353699
- Sorensen, S., Pinquart, M., & Duberstein, P. (2002). How effective are interventions with caregivers? An updated meta-analyses. *The Gerontologist*, 42(3), 356-372. doi:10.1093/geront/42.3.356
- Stein, C. H., Wemmerus, V. A., Ward, M., Gaines, M. E., Freeberg, A. L., & Jewell, T. C. (1998). "Because they're my parents": An intergenerational study of felt obligation and parental caregiving. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, *60*(3), 611-622. doi:10.2307/353532
- Stommel, M., Given, C. W., & Given, B. (2016). Depression as an overriding variable explaining caregiver burdens. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 2(1), 81-102. doi:10.1177/089826439000200106
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L. S. (2007). Using Multivariate Statistics (5th ed. ed.). Boston,MA: Allyn & Bacon/Pearson Education.
- Tang, W. K., & Chan, C. Y. (2016). Effects of psychosocial interventions on self-efficacy of dementia caregivers: A literature review. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 31(5), 475-493. doi:10.1002/gps.4352
- Volicer, L., Harper, D. G., Manning, B. C., Goldstein, R., & Satlin, A. (2001). Sundowning and circadian rhythms in Alzheimer's disease. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*(5), 704-711. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.5.704
- Wang, Y. N., Shyu, Y. I., Tsai, W. C., Yang, P. S., & Yao, G. (2013). Exploring conflict between caregiving and work for caregivers of elders with dementia: A cross-sectional,
correlational study. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *69*(5), 1051-1062. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.06092.x

Wisniewski, S. R., Belle, S. H., Coon, D. W., Marcus, S. M., Ory, M. G., Burgio, L. D., . . .
Schulz, R. (2003). The Resources for Enhancing Alzheimer's Caregiver Health
(REACH): Project design and baseline characteristics. *Psychology and Aging*, *18*(3), 375-384. doi:10.1037/0882-7974.18.3.375

- Xie, J., Brayne, C., Matthews, F. E., Medical Research Council Cognitive Function, & Ageing Study collaborators. (2008). Survival times in people with dementia: Analysis from population based cohort study with 14 year follow-up. *The BMJ*, *336*(7638), 258-262. doi:10.1136/bmj.39433.616678.25
- Zarit, S. H., & Femia, E. E. (2008). A future for family care and dementia intervention research?
  Challenges and strategies. *Aging and Mental Health*, *12*(1), 5-13.
  doi:10.1080/13607860701616317